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Independent auditor's rep ort
To the Shareholders of Bank of Maldives Plc

Our opinion
In our opinion, the accompanylng financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Bank of Maldives Plc ("the Bank") as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

What we have audited

The financial statements of the Bank, which comprise:

. the statement of financial position as at 31 December zozr;
o the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

. the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

. the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

' the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basisfor optnton
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in theAuditor's Responsf bilitiesfor the
Audit of the Financial Statemenfs section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, H. Thandiraimage,3rd Floor, Roshanee Magu, Mal6, Republic of Maldives
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit
matter

Impainnent of lo ans o:nd ordu oinces

Refer to Note rB of the financial statements.

As at 31 December zozt,4o%o ofthe total assets of
the bank consisted of loans and advances amounting
to MVR 15.6 billion shown net of loss allowance of
MVRr.Tbillion.

The loss allowance in respect ofloans and advances
represent management's best estimate of the
impairment loss incurred and expected within the
loan portfolio at the reporting date.

The loss allowance had been calculated using
statistical methods and historical collection trends
adjusted for forward-looking information.
Significant estimates and assumptions used by the
management in such calculations and the basis for
impairment allowance is disclosed in Note 34.4 and
3.7.3.

Specific work that we performed on the loss
allowance on loans and advances recognised by

- Tested the completeness of the loans and
advances considered in the loan loss calculation
by checking the mathematical accuracy of the
listing obtained and matched the outstanding
balances with the general ledger.

- Assessed the reasonableness of management's
estimated future recoveries of individual
customer loans and advances including the
expected future cash flows, discount rates and
valuation of collateral held by testing the key
underlying assumptions and evaluating the
process by which those were drawn up.

- Tested the accuracy and completeness of
underlying information in loans and advances
used in the expected loan loss allowance
calculation, such as disbursed and undisbursed
loan amounts, deposits, values of the collateral,
aging and loan tenure periods by agreeing details
with the respective customer statements and files
on a sample basis.

- Tested the methodology applied in the loan loss
allowance calculation by checking compliance
with the requirements of IFRS g, Financial
instraments ; r eco g nition and measurement, and
also considered reasonableness of macro-
economic and other factors used by the
management by comparing them with publicly
available data and information sources.

We have identified expected credit loss allowance
for loans and advances as a key audit matter as the
calculation of the loan loss allowance is a complex
area and requires management to make significant
assumptions and judgements.

- Assessed the adequacy ofthe related financial
statement disclosures as set out on Notes 3.7.3
and34.4 for compliance with required IFRS q
disclosures.

- Based on the work performed we found the
estimation of impairment provision on loans and
advances by the management had been based on
reasonable assumptions and methodology.
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Other tnformatton

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual
report for the year ended 3r December 2o2t (but does not include the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of auditor's
report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to the Board.

Responsibilittes of management and those charged uith gouernance for the
financial stotements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting
process.

Audttor's responstbilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAS will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aSsregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions ofusers taken
on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identifu and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness ofaccounting policies used and the reasonableness ofaccounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank
to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the
ethical requirements in accordance with IESBA Code of Ethics regarding independence, an6 to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

4
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Jatindra
Bhattray.

MALE' For PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

),9 N araJ\ AotA

Partner
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

Notes

4

2021 2020

3,930,630 2,594,270

2,15 1,889

(195,972)

I ,955,917 1,705,530

719,363

(264,558)

1,156,672

491 70

664,963 454,905

Gross income

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Fees and commission income

Fees and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Net foreign exchange income

Other operating income

Total operating income

Credit impairment losses

Net operating income

Personnel expenses

Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses

Profit before tax

Income tax expense

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net gains on re-measuring of FVOCI equity investments
Net income tax relating to components of re-measuring of equity investments

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share - Basic/diluted (MVR)

5

5

5

6

6

6

7

8

55,436

5 66,63 3

\1 )11

27,045

9

3,242,949

(91,658)

2,240,657

(1,227,561)

3,151,291 1,013,096

l0
il

(3 33,885)

(280,7 r4)

(280,924)

(28 r,801)

(6 r4,s9e) (562,725)

2,536,692 450,371

12 (674,673) (125,304)

1,862,019 325,067

(1,-550) 35,741

12.3 389 (8,936)

( 1,161) 26,805

_lgg,85!____11L!12_

l3 346 60

The accounting policies and notes on pages l0 through 77 form an integral part of the financial statements

6-
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 3l December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Financia! assets at amortized cost

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers

Financial assets at FVOCI
Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds

Lease liability
Income tax liability
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Retained earnings

Other reserves

Notes

t5
l6
l9
t7
l8
2t
22

23

24

t2.3
25

26

2',7

28

t2.2
29

3l

2021 2020

5,546,920

2,971,388

7,279,367

s,6r 5,984

15,556,667

243,6t6
523,321

158,412

94,920

t49,7 t8
81 0,673

1,781,67 6

3,086,2t2
6,433,845

4,075,833

14,459,899

245,166

528,169

r56,r66
78,636

192,259

387,552

38,950,986 3\,425,413

27,331,592

t,t39,233
151,726

427,559

l, l 00,352

2t,929,169

906,706

144,059

l9l ,660
1,234,304

30,150,462 24,405,898

30 362,096

r,865,539

6,572,889

362,096
328,587

6,328,832

Total equity 8,800,524 7,019,5 1 5

Total liabilities and equity 38,950,986 3l ,425,413

Commitments and contingencies 34.4.10 1,249,0t0 1,s49,978

The Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements. Signed for
and on behalfofthe Board by;

Nandana Senevirathne

Chief Financial Officer
Timothy Sawyer Mohamed

CEO and Managing Director Audit Committee

The accounting policies and notes on pages l0 through 77 form an integral part of the financial statements.

24 March 2022

Male'
-7-
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BANK OF MALDIVE,S PLC
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 3 I December 202 I

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

Share capital Reservcs

Ordinary
voting
shares

Share
premium

Statutory
Assigned

capital
reserveRetained earnings reserve

General Revaluation FVOCI
reserve reserve reserve

Reserve for
loan loss

provision

Balance at I January 2020

Net profit lor the year

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Dividends to equity holders

Transfer to general reserves

f)cferrcd tax on excess depreciation

Depreciation transfer on revaluation assets

Balance as at 3l December 2020

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Dividends to equity holders

'fransfer to general reseryes

Delerred tax on excess depreciation

Depreciation transfer on revaluation assets

Balance as at 3l December 202I

269.096 93,000

269,096 93,000

Notes

l4. t

t2.3

l4t

t2.3

1.042.647

325.067

( r 39.930)

(902.717 )

3.520

150.000 6.000 4.972.329 t t6.790 t 56.83 t

26.80s

902.7 t7

880

(3,s20)

Total

6,806,693

325,067

26.805

( r 39.930)

880

328,587

| .862.0 r9

(80,729)

(247.8s8)

3,520

t50,000 6,000 5,875.046 I t4,150 183,636

(r,r6t)

247.858

880

(3,s20)

7,0r9.5r5

1,862,019

(r, r6r)

(80,729)

880

269,096 93.000 I.865.539 r s0.000 6.000 6.122.904 II1.5t0 182.475 8,800,524

'l'he accounting policies and notes on pages l0 through 77 lorm an integral part of the financial statements.
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

Notes 2021

2,536,692

2020

450,371

1,t76,920
(6,034,281 )

5,252,767

(12,971)

(5 13,471)

319,335

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:
Other non cash items included in profit before tax
Increase in operating assets

Increase in operating liabilities
Finance cost of lease

Adjustment in respect of Income tax of prior years
Income tax paid

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of properry, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Principal element of lease liability paid
Dividends paid to equity holders
Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at I January
Cash and cash equivalents at 3l December

36.2
36.3

36.4

(276,420)

(3,423 ,653)
5,619,520

(12,239)

(21,871)

(3 73,093 )12.2

22.2

24
,ro

28

36. I

(48,523)
(29,52t)

345

4,048,936

(122,107)
(22,330)

1,352
(77,6e8) ( 143,085)

(6,743)
199 5l

( r6,856)
(132,094)

(205,994) ( r48,95 0)

3 ,7 65 ,245
1,781,676

27,300
| ,7 54,37 6

5,546,920 1,781,676

The accounting policies and notes on pages l0 through 77 form an integral part of the financial statements

-9-



BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 3l December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

I Corporate information

l.l Reporting entity

Bank of Maldives PLC ("the Bank") is a public quoted company incorporated on ll November l9g2 (Reg.
no, C-2211982) with limited liability and domiciled in the Republic of Maldives. The registered office of the
Bank is situated at ll, Boduthakurufaanu Magu, Male' 2o}g4, Republic of Maldives. The Bank is listed orr
the Maldives Stock Exchange.

1.2 Principal activities and nature of operations

1

The Bank provides a comprehensive range of financial services including corporate and retail banking,
deposit services, treasury and investment services, project financing, trade financing, issuing of credit cards
and debit cards, electronic banking and money remittance services. It is engaged in both conventional and
Islamic banking.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Bank, which comprise the statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements, have been prepared and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the lnternational Accounting Standards Board (tASB).

Approval of financial statements by the Board of Directors

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 3 I December 2021 were authorized for issue by the
Board of Directors (together referred to as the "Board") in accordance with the resolution of the Board on 24
March2022.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of measurement

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following
material items in the statement of financial position which are measured at fair value:

. Financial instruments at amortized cost.

' Financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
. Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss (FVpL).
r Land and buildings at revalued value.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements of the Bank are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Bank operates. Financial information presented in Maldivian
Rufiyaa has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless indicated otherwise.

The Bank determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements are measured
using that functional culrency. There was no change in the Bank's presentation and functional cunency
during the year under review.

2.t

11

3

Presentation of financial statements

The Bank's items presented in their statements of financial position are grouped by nature and are listed in an
order that reflects their relative liquidity and maturity pattem. No adjustments have been made for
inflationary factors affecting the financial statements. An analysis of recovery or settlement within 12 months
after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (non-current) is presented

3.1

1,,

3.3

in Note 37

- l0-



BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTE S TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 Decernber 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

3.4 Materiality and aggregation

In compliance with IAS I Presentation of financial statements, each material class of sirnilar items is presented
separately in the financial statements. Items of dissimilar nature or functions are also presented separately
unless they are considered to be immaterial.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and
expenses are not offset in the statement of comprehensive income unless required or permitted by accounting
standards.

Comparative information

The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Bank with those of the previous financial year
in accordance with IAS I Presentation of financial statements. Further, information has been reclassified
wherever necessary to provide better relative comparisons.

The details of any reclassification have been provided in Note 43.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in apptying the Bank,s
accounting policies.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involve a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and
major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within
the next financial year. Detailed information about each of these estimates and judgements is included in the
related notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the
financial statements.

Going concern

The Board of Directors made an assessment of the Bank's ability to continue as a going concem and is
satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank's ability to continue as a
going concern and it does not intend either to liquidate or to cease the Bank's operations. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include
the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. Judgements and estimates include
considerations of liquidity and model inputs related to items such as credit risk (both own and counterparty),
funding value adjustments, correlation and votatility. The valuation of financial instruments is described in
more detail in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Measurement of the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance

The measurement of ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that
requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit
behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 34.4.3.3,which also

3.5

3.6

3.6.1

3.6,2

3.6.3

sets out key sensitivities of the ECL to changes in these elements.



BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 3 I December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring
ECL. such as:

. Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risks.

' choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL.
' Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios and the associated ECL.
' Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Bank in the above areas is set out in
Note 34.4.3.

3.6.4 Fair value of property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings ofthe Bank are reflected at fair value. The Bank engaged independent valuation specialists
to determine the fair value of land and buildings. When current market prices of similar assets are available,
such evidence is considered in estimating fair values ofthese assets.

3.6.5 Useful life time of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset

The Bank reviews the residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets at each reporling date. Judgment of the management is exercised in the
estimation ofthese values, rates, methods and hence they are subject to uncertainty.

3,6.6 Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

As the Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, it uses its incremental borrowing
rate ('lBR') to measure the lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Bank would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

3.7

3.7.1

Financial instruments - initial recognition, classification and subsequent measurement

Initial recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions ofthe financial instrument. Regular way purchases and sales offinancial assets are recognised on
trade-date, the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sellthe asset.

3.7.2 Initial measurement of financial instruments
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus,
in the case ofa financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability,
such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fairvalue
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit
loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt
instruments measured at FVOCI, as described in Note 34.4.3, which results in an accounting loss being
recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition,
the entity recognises the difference as follows:

(a) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
(i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the
difference is recognised as a gain or loss.

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing ofrecognition ofdeferred day one profit or
loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the
instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through
settlement.

u
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 3l December 2021

(All amounts irr MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

3.7.3 Financial assets

(i) classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

The Bank has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
. Amortised costt or
. Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instrurnents that meet the definition of a financial liability fiom the issuer,s
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in
factoring arrangements without recourse.

classification and subsequent measurement of debt instrurnents depend on:
. 'fhe Bank's business model for managing the asset; and
. The cash flow characteristics ofthe asset.

Based on these factors. the Bank classifies its debt instruments into one of the following two rrreasuretrent
categories:

' Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVpL, are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss
allowance recognised and measured as described in Note 34.4.3.lncome from these financial assets is
included in 'interest income' using the effective interest rate method.

' Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for selting the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange
gains and losses on the instrument's amoftised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised as 'net investment income'. Income from these financial
assets is included in 'interest income'usingthe effective interest rate method.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Bank manages the assets in order to generate cash flows.
That is, whether the Bank's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to
collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of
'other' business model and measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Bank in determining the business
model for a group ofassets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how
the asset's performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and
managed and how managers are compensated. For example, the Bank's business model for the moftgage loan
book is to hold to collect contractual cash flows, with no resulting derecognition by the Bank. An other example
is the Iiquidity portfolio of assers, which is held by the Bank as parr of liquidity management and is generally
classified within the hold to collect and sell business model. Securities held for trading are held principally for
the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a ponfolio of financial instruments that are managed
together and for which there is evidence ofa recent actual pattern of
are classified in the 'other' business model and measured at FVpL.

-t3-
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTE S TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the
Bank's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The Bank's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI
when those investments are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is
used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss,
including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Bank's right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the 'net trading income' line in the statement of
profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities, which the Bank has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. After the initial recognition,
financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) less
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees that are an integral part of the EIR. The amorlisation is included in'interest income'in the statement of
comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognised in .credit
impairment losses' in the statement of comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. lnterest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss and recorded as part of interest income'.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are given under notes below.

Debt instruments and placements with banks

After initial measurement, these assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost (gross carrying amount
using the EIR, less provision for impairment). Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amorlisation is included
in "lnterest Income" while the losses arising from impairme
and other losses" in the statement of comprehensive income.

-14-
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SPPI: where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect conffactual cash
flows and sell, the Bank assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a
basic lending alrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

The Bank reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following ttre change. No
reclassifications were done during the year.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the
issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.
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Loans and receivables to customers

l-oans and receivables to customers include non-derivative tlnancial assets with f rxed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market, other than:

' Those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the near term and those that the Bank, upon initial
recognition, designates at fair value through profit or loss.

. Those that the Bank, upon initial recognition, designates as FVOCI.

' Those fbr which the Bank may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of
credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables to customers are initially recognised at amortised cost, which is the cash consideration to
originate the loan including any transaction costs and carried subsequently with accrued interest. Interest on
loans and receivables is included in the statementof comprehensive income and is reported as.interest income,.
In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and
receivable and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as 'credit impairmeni losses'.

Details of loans and receivables to customers are given in Note l8 to the financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand. balances with banks. and money at call and short notice that
are subject to an insigniticant risk ofchanges in their value.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. Details of cash and
cash equivalents are given in Note l5 to the financial statements.

For the purpose ofthe statement ofcash flow, cash and cash equivalents consist ofcash and short term deposits
as defined above.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FvocI)
Financial assets at FVOCI includes both quoted and unquoted equity. Equity investments classifred as ITVOCI
are financial assets that are held fbr collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets. where the
assets' cash f)ows represent solely pavments of principal and interest. and that are not designated at FVpL. The
Bank has not designated any loans or receivables as FVOCI. After initial measurement, flnancial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised directly in the statement for
other comprehensive income as part of equity. When the investment is disposed off, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is recognised, in the statement of comprehensive income in'net gain/ (loss) from
flnancial investmentso. Where the Bank holds more than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to
be disposed off on a first-in first-out basis. Dividends earned whilst holding financial investments' are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as'net gain/ (loss) from financial investments'when the
right of the payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are
recognised in 'impairment for loans and other losses' in the statement of comprehensive income and removed
from equity.

For FVOCI financial investments, the Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that an investment is impaired.

In the case of debt instruments classified as FVOCI, the Bank assesses individually whether there is objective
evidence of impairment based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the
amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amor-tised cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. This
interest income is recorded as part of interest income under'loans and receivables to customers,. If, in a
subsequent period. the fair value ofa debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related to a
credit event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, the
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

The Bank writes off f rnancial assets at FVOCI when they are determined to be uncollectible.

- l5-
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(ii) Impairment

The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses ('ECL') associated with its debt
instrument assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date.
The measurement of ECL reflects:

' An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;

. The time value of money; and

' Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Loss allowance is based on the expected credit losses associated with the probability of default for the next
fwelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case the
allowance is based on the probability of default overthe life of the asset.

The Bank performs an assessment at the end of each reporting period to determine whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. This is done by considering the change in the risk of default
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

To calculate ECL, the Bank estimated the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during its
expected life. ECLs are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected
life of the financial asset, i.e. the difference between:

' The contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank under the contract, and

' The cash flows that the Bank expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan.

The Bank classifies its financial instruments as Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the applied impairment
methodology, as described below:

' Stage I - Performing loans: when loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on
12-month expected credit losses.

' Stage 2 - Underperforming loans: when a loan shows a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank
records an allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss.

' Stage 3 - Credit impaired loans: the Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. In
addition, in Stage 3 the Bank accrues interest income on the amortised cost of the loan net of allowances.

Forward looking information

The Bank incorporated forward-looking information into the measurement of ECLs (refer Note 34.4.3,4).

Limitation of estimation techniques

The models applied by the Bank may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as
they cannot be recalibrated at the same pace as changes in market conditions. Although the Bank will use data
that is as current as possible, models used to calculate ECLs will be based on data that is one month in affears
and adjustments will be made for significant events that occur prior to the reporting date.

-t6-
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(iii) Modification of loans

The Bank sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When
this happens, the Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms.
The Bank does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

' If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

' Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based retum that
substantially affects the risk profile ofthe loan.

' Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
. Significant change in the interest rate.
. Change in the currency the loan was originally denominated in.

' Inseftion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a,new'
asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset, The date of renegotiation is
consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for
the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Bank also
assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition,
especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the
originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or
loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition,
and the Bank recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and
recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by
discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate.

The impact of modifications of financial assets on the expected credit loss (ECL) calculation is discussed in
Note 34.4.7.

(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Bank transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and the Bank has not retained control.

The Bank enters into transactions where it retains the conffactual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the
risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass through' transfers that result in derecognition if
the Bank:

' Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets.
. Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets.

' Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Bank under standard repurchase agreements and securities
lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Bank retains substantially all the risks and
rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not
met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the Bank retains a subordinated residual
interest.
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3.7.4 Financialliabilities

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amorlised
cost,

' Financial liabilities at amortised cost: Financial instruments issued by the Bank that are not designated at
fair value through profit or loss, are classified as liabilities under'due to banks', ,due to customers, and
'debt issued and other borrowed funds' as appropriate, where the substance of the contractual
arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to
the holder, or to satis$r the obligation other than by the exchange ofa fixed amount ofcash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares at amortised cost using the EIR method.

After initial recognition, such financial liabilities are substantially measured at amortised cost using the
EIR method' Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue
and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amoftisation is included in,interest expenses,in
the statement of comprehensive income. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation
process.

The details of the Bank's financial liabilities at amortised cost are shown in Note 26,27,2g and Note 29 to
the financial statements.

' Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualifo for derecognirion,
whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent
periods, the Bank recognises any expense incurred on the financial Iiabiliry; and

' Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments (refer Note 3.g).

(ii) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Bank and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms,
as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least l0% different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition,
other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of
interest rate' new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants aie also taken into
consideration' If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If
the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the
carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and others on
behalfofcustomers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financ ial guarantee contracts
. The amount of the loss
. The premium received ,

IFRS I5.

are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of:
allowance (calculated as described in Note 34.4.3); and
on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the principles of

3.8
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3.9

3.r0

3.1 0.1

Loan commitments provided by the Bank are measured as the amount of the loss allowance (calculated as
described in Note 34.4.3). The Bank has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market
interest rate' or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision.
However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank cannot separately
identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component,
the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the
loan. To the extent that the combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the
expected credit losses are recognised as a provision.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

All loreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, lvhich is Maldivian Rufiyaa. using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates after the transactions were ef'fected.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in loreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to
Maldivian Rufiyaa using the mid exchange rate (simple average of buy and sell exchange rates) applying at that
date and all differences arising on non-trading activities are taken to other operating income in the siatement of
comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items in fbreign currency measured at
fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange differences arising on the settlement or reporting of monetary items at rates difl'erent fiom
those which were initially recorded are dealt with in the statement of comprehensive income.

IFRS l6 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease ifthe contract conveys the right to control the use ofan identified asset for a period oftime in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. This policy is applied to contracts entered on or after
lst January 2019.

The Bank's leasing activities and how these are accounted for
The Bank leases various offices and godowns as leased buildings and rental contracts are typically made fbr
fixed periods of l2 months to 7 years. but may have extension options as described in (Note 3.10.5) below.

Leases ofreal estate for which the Bank is a lessee, has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components
and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are
hetd by the lessor. None ofthe Bank's leased assets are used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Bank."

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments).

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement ol
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Bank, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtaln an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms. securitv and
conditions,
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To deterrnine the increntental bonowing rate. the Bank uses a build-up approach that stafts with a third parqr
reference rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Bank, and made adjustments on criterias such as
term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the rernaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:. The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability. Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date. Any initial direct costs, and
. Restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase'option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life. while the Bank revalues its land andLuildings thar are
presented within property, plant and equipment, has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by
the Bank.

Payments associated with short-tenn leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term
of l2 months or less.

3.10.2 Short-term leases and leases oflow-value assets

The Bank has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases oflow-value assets and
short-term leases. Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise underlying asset value of which is less than USD 5,000.

3.10.3 Practical expedients applied

In applying IFRS 16, the Bank has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

' Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

' Relying on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as an alternative to performing an
impairment review - there were no onerous contracts as at I January 2019

' Payments of operating leases with low-value assets are recognised on a straight line basis as an expense
to statement of comprehensive income, under other operating expenses

' Excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application, and

' Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate
the lease.

3.10.4 Lessoraccounting

The Bank did not hold assets in the form ofa lessor under any operating lease agreement.

3.10.5 Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are
These are used to maximise operati
operations. The majority of extension
the respective lessor.

,included in a number of properry and equipment leases across the Bank.
ional flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Bank's
and termination options held are exercisable only by the Bank and not by

use

o

**
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3.1I Property, plant and equipment

3.1l.l

3.1 t.2

3.1 1.3

Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes and are expected to be used during more than one
period. The Bank applies the requirements of the IAS l6 - Property, plant and equipment in accounting for
these assets.

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment are recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the asset will flow to the Bank and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured.

Measurement

An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset is initially measured at its
cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and cost incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition
for its intended use and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of computer equipment.

Cost model

The Bank applies the cost model to property, plant and equipment except for freehold land and buildings and
records at cost of purchase or construction together with any incidental expenses thereon less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such costs include the cost of replacing part of the
equipment when that cost is incuned, if the recognition criteria are met.

Revaluation model

The Bank applies the revaluation modelto the entire class of freehotd land and buildings. Such properties are
carried at a revalued amount, being their fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Freehold land and buildings of the Bank are
revalued every five years on a rolI over basis to ensure that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from
the fair values at the reporting date. On revaluation of an asset, any increase in the carrying amount is
recognised in 'other comprehensive income' and accumulated in equity, under revaluation reserve or used to
reverse a previous revaluation decrease relating to the same asset, which was charged to the statement of
comprehensive income. In this circumstance, the increase is recognised as income to the extent of the
previous write-down. Any decrease in the carrying amount is recognised as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income or debited in the other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit balance
existing in the capital reserve in respect ofthat asset. The decrease recognised in other comprehensive income
reduces the amount accumulated in equity under capital reserves. Any balance remaining in the revaluation
reserve in respect ofan asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal ofthe asset.

Subsequent cost

The subsequent cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within that part
will flow to the Bank and its cost can be reliably measured.

The costs of day to day servicing of property, plant and equipment are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred. Cost incurred in using or redeploying an item is not included under
carrying amount of an item.

3.11.4

3.11.5
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3.1 1.6

3.1 1.7

Derecognition

I'he canying amount of an item of property, plant and equiprnent is derecognised on disposal or when no
future econotnic benefits are expected ffom its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from derecognition of'
an item of property, plant and equipment is included in the statement of comprehensive incorne when the item
is derecognised.

Depreciation

The Bank provides depreciation from the date the assets are available for use up to the date ofdisposal, at the
following rates on a straight line basis over the periods appropriate to the estimated useful lives based on the
pattern in which the asset's future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Bank of the
different types ofassets. Depreciation ofan asset ceases at the earlier date that the asset is classified as held
for sale or the date that the asset is derecognised. Depreciation does not cease when the assets become idle or
is retired from active use unless the asset is flully depreciated.

Asset categorv Depreciation ra te per annum
Building freehold

Building leasehold

Computer hardware

Furniture and fittings

Office equipment

Motor vehicles / vessels

2.85% - 4%

25 years or lease term, whichever is shofter
10% - 33.33%

12j% -2s%
25% - 33.33%
t0% - 20%

3.11.8

3. I 1.9

3.12

3.t2.t

Changes in estimates

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted
prospectively as appropriate.

Capital work in progress

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost, These are expenses of a capital nature directly incurred in the
construction of buildings, major plant and machinery and system development, awaiting capitalisation.

Capital work-in-progress would be transferred to the relevant asset when it is available for use, i.e. when it is
in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended bv
managernent. Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost less any accumulated irnpairment losses.

lntangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance held for use in the
production or supply ofgoods or services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes.

Details of intangible assets are given in Note 24 to the financial statements.

Basis of recognition

An intangible asset is recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the
asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the assets can be measured reliably. An intangible asset is initially
measured at cost.
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3,12,2 Computersoftware

Cost of purchased licenses and all computer software costs incurred, licensed for use by the Bank, which are
not integrally related to associated hardware. which can be clearly identified, reliably measured and it is
probable that they will lead to future economic benefits, are included in the statement of financial position
under the category intangible assets and carried at cost less accumulated arnortisation and anv accumulated
impairment losses.

3.12.3 Subsequentexpenditure

Expenditure incumed on software is capitalised only when it is probable that this expenditure will enable the
asset to generate future economic benefits in excess of its originally assessed standard of performance and
this expenditure can be tneasured and attributed to the asset reliably. All other expenditure is expensed as
incurred.

3.12,4 Derecognition of intangible assets

The carrying amount of an item of intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use. The gain or loss arising from de-recognition ofan item ofintangible asset
is included in the statement of comprehensive income when the item is derecognised.

3.12.5 Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets, except for goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis in the statement of
comprehensive income flom the date when the asset is available for use, over the best estimate of its useful
economic life based on a pattern in which the asset's economic benefits are consumed by the Bank.
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each financial year and
adjusted if appropriate. The Bank assume that there is no residual value for its intangible assets.

Asset category Useful life years
Computer software 5 - l0 years

3.12.6

3. r3

Impairment of intangible assets not available for use

Intangible assets that are not available for use are tested annually for possible impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. As at the reporting
date, the Bank does not have any intangible assets that have impaired.

Dividend payable

Provision for the final dividend is recognized at the time the dividend recommended and declared by the
Board is approved by the shareholders. Interim dividend payable is recognised when the Board approves
such dividend in accordance with the Companies Act No l0 of 1996 and Maldives Banking Act No 24 of
20r0.

Dividends for the year that are declared after the reporting date are disclosed in Note 40 to the financial
statements as an event after the reporting period in accordance with the IAS l0 - Events after the reporting
period.
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3.t4

3.1 4.1

3.14.2

3.r5

3. l6

3. t 6.1

3.17

Employee benefits

Staff provident fund

The Bank operates a staff provident fund. All local employees of the Bank who have subscribed to the fund are
the members of this fund to which the Bank contributes 3%, This contribution is recognised as an employee
benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

Retirement pension scheme

The Bank commenced its retirement pension scheme for employees on I May 2011. This is based on the
Regulation on Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme published by the Government of Maldives. The Bank
deducts 7% of pensionable wages fiom its employees and matches this contribution. The amount of the Bank,s
contribution is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outf'low of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense ielating to any
provision is presented in the statement olcomprehensive income net of any reimbursement. Where there are a
number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class ofobligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even ifthe likelihood ofan outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management best estimate olthe expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end ofthe reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value
is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value ol'money and the risks specific to
the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage oftime is recognised as interest expense.

Fiduciary activities

The Bank acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on
behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. Those assets that are held in a
fiduciary capacity are not included in these financial statements ofthe Bank.

Custodian account of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme (MRpS)

Pursuant to the agreement entered into with Maldives Pension Adminisration Office (MpAO), the
administrator of the MRPS, the Bank pertbrms custodial and other services relating to the establishment and
maintenance of contribution collection and contribution holding accounts of MRpS, in which the Bank keeps
the funds and, at the direction of MPAO or a person authorised by MPAO, invests the funds in the designated
tlnancial instruments. in consideration for which MpAo pays a fee to the Bank.

Commitments and contingencies

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed only by uncertain future
events or present obligations where the transf'er of economic benefits is not probable or cannot be reliably
measured.

To meet the flnancial needs of customers. the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent
liabilities. These consist of flnancial guarantees. letters of credit and other undraruvn commitments to lend.
Letters of credit and Suarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a
specitic act, generally related to the import or export ofgoods. Guarantees and standby letters ofcredit carry a
similar credit risk to loans. Pending legal claims against the Bank also form part of commitments of the Bank.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed unless they are
remote. But these contingent liabilities do contain credit risk and are therefore form part ofthe overall risk of
the Bank. All identifiable risks are accounted for in determining the amount of all known liabilities.

Details of commitments and contingencies are given in Note 34.4.10 to the flnancial statements
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3.17.1 Financial guarantees

3.17.2

3.18

3.l9

3.1 9.1

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within
'other liabilities') at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank,s
liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortization recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and the best estimate of expenditure
required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result ofthe guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recorded in the statement of comprehensive
income as'impairment loss on loans and receivables'. The premium received is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as 'fees and commission income,.

Legalclaims

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The
Bank has formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained
and the amount of loss reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects
which the claims may have on its financial standing. There were no pending litigations against the Bank as at
3l December 2021 which would have a material impact on the financial statements. Furlher details are
provided under Note 38 to the financial statemenrs.

Operational risk events

Provisions for operational risk events are recognised as losses incurred by the Bank which do not relate
directly to amounts of principal outstanding for loans and advances.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation as at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties that surround the events and
circumstances that affect the provision.

Significant accounting policies - Recognition of income and expenses

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and can be
reliably measured, whereas the expense consists of the economic cost the Bank incurs through its operations to
earn income. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before recognising income and
expenses.

Interest income and interest expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing financial assets classified as
FVOCI, interest income or expense is recorded using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. EIR is the rate
that estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

The calculation of EIR takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example,
prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument
and are an integral part ofthe EIR, but not future credit losses.
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3. r 9.1 lnterest income and interest expense (continued)

The carrying amount of the financialasset or financial liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of
payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original EIR and the change in
carrying amount is recorded 'interest income' for financial assets and 'interest expense, for financial
liabilities.

However, for a reclassified financial asset for which the Bank subsequently increases its estimates of future
cash receipts as a result of increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is
recognised as an adjustment to the EIR from the date of the change in estimate.

once the recorded value ofa financial asset or a group ofsimilar financial assets has been reduced due to an
impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

3,19.2 Fee and commission income

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee
income can be divided into the following two categories.

3.19,2,1 Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees
include professional fees, trade service fees, commission income and asset management fees, loan
commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are recognised when
the obligation is fulfilled. When it is unlikely that a Ioan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are
recognised over the commitment period on a straight line basis.

3.19.2,2 Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a ffansaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are
recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain
performance are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

3.19.3 Fee and commission expenses

Fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and services fees, which are expensed as the
services are received. Fee and commission expenses are recognised on accrual basis.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis when the Bank's right to receive the
dividend is established. This is usually on the ex-dividend date for equiry securities. Dividend income is
presented in Note 8 'other operating income' in the financial statements.

Profit / (loss) from sale of property, plant and equipment

Profit / (loss) from sale of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the period in which the sale occurs
and is classified as other operating income.

3.19.4

3.19.5
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3,20

3.20.1

Tax expense

In accordance with IAS 12 - Income taxes, tax expense is the aggregate amount included in determination of
profit or loss for the period in respect ofcurrent and deferred taxation. Income tax expense is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income except to the extent it relates to items recognised directly in .equity, or
'other comprehensive income (ocl)', in which case it is recognised in equity or in oCI.

Current tax

with effect from I January 2020, Ministry of Finance and Treasury replaced the prevailing Bank profit Tax
Act (9/85) and introduced the Income Tax Act (2512019) which governs all taxarion matters for banks. The
new Income Tax regulation impacts the Bank's financial statements from the year ended 3 I December 2020.

Provision for taxation is made on the basis of the profit for the year as adjusted for taxation purposes in
accordance with the new Income Tax regulations issued by Ministry of Finance and Treasury, Republic of
Maldives.

3.20.2 Deferred tax

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences using the liability method providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes. provision
is made for deferred taxation only to the extent that the temporary differences would reverse in the foreseeable
future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

3,21 IFRS l5 Revenue from contracts with customers

Fee and commission income and expenses that are integral to the EIR of a financial asset or financial liability
are capitalised and included in the measurement of the EIR and recognised in the income statement over the
expected life of the instrument.

Other fee and commission income, including card operations fees, investment management fees and
commission on trade services are recognised as the related services are performed.

As per IFRS 15, the Bank adopts principles based five step model for revenue recognition. Accordingly,
revenue is recognised only when all of the following criteria are met.

. The parties to the contract have approved the contract/s;

. The entify can identifi, each party's rights regarding the goods or services to be transfened,

. The entity can identif the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred;

. The contract has commercial substance;

. It is probable that the entiry will collect the considerarion to which it will be entitled in exchange for the
goods or services that will be rransferred to the customer.

The scope of IFRS l5 is limited to fees and commission revenue of the Bank.

use

* *
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3,22 New and amended accounting standards adopted by the Bank

The Bank has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting
periods commencing I January 2021. Most of the amendments listed below did not have any significant
impact on amounts recognised in prior periods and do not expected to significantly affect the cunent or
future periods. The Company did not have to change its accounting policies or make retrospective
adjustments as a result ofadopting these standards:

i Amendmentto IFRS 16,'Leases'- COVID-19 related rent concessions Extension of the practical
expedient

ii Arnendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS l6 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - phase 2

3.23 New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective.

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after I January 2021 and earlier
application is permitted; however, the Bank has not early adopted the new or amended standards in
preparing these consolidated financial statements.

The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the
Bank's financial statements.

IFRS 17, 'lnsurance contracts'
classification of Liabilities as current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS I

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use - Amendments to IAS l6
Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to IFRS 3
Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract Amendments to IAS 37
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 -2020
Disclosure Initiative: Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS I and tFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendment to IAS 12 - Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction
Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)
InitialApptication of IFRS l7 and IFRS 9 - Comparative Information (Amendmenr to IFRS l7)

a

a

a

a

t

a

a

a

a
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4 Gross income

Interest income
Fees and commission income
Foreign exchange income
Other operating income (Note 8)

5 Net interest income

Interest income

Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets ar amortized cost (Note 5. I )
Placements with banks

Reserve deposits

Less: interest expense

Due to customers
Term debts and other borrowed funds
Finance cost for lease liabilities (Note 28)

Cards operation
Pay orders
Loans

Administration fees on development funds
Miscellaneous income on branch operations
Trade services
Custodian services fee

Others

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

2021 2020

2,15 I ,gg9
1,156,672

55,436

566,633

1,884,595

719,363

53,277

27,045
3.930.63 0 2,684,270

2021

1,743,377 1,547,903
337,307 279,309
60,464 49,367
10,741 9,106

l5t 889 l,gg4 ,585

I 17 ,739
48,346

12,971

6

Net interest income
195,972 179,055

1,955,917 l,705,5 3 0

5.1 lnterest income - financial assets at amortized cost

2021 2020
lnterest income from Govemment of Maldives Securities and related financial 300.173
instruments

Interest income from financial instruments other than Government of Maldives 37,134
337.307

243,529

The interest income from Government of Maldives Securities includes interest income from treasurv bills and
treasury bonds.

Net fee and commission income

202t 2020

3 5,79 I

279,309

865,146
I19,279

65,743

27,769

61,494

8,652

5,700

2,899

536,342

65, I 6g

40,819

I 1,018

50,829

6,192
6,000
2,996

1,156,672

(491,709)
719 63

(264,558)

664,963 454,805

Fee and commission expense mainly include the payments made towards card related transactions.
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7 Net foreign exchange income

Net foreign exchange income
2021 2020

5s,436 53,277

55,436 53,277

mainly derived from card operations, sale and purchase of foreign
of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at each

2021 2020

8

Net foreign exchange income has
currencies and through revaluation
reporting date.

Other operating income

Recoveries of written off loan and receivables
Dividend income
Others

9 Impairment of loans and other credit losses charged/(reversed)

Loans and receivables to customers

Financial assets at amortized cost
Placements with banks

Other receivables

l0 Personnel expenses

Salaries, wages and other related expenses
Defined contribution plan expense - 7oh contribution to Maldives Retirement
Pension Scheme

Defined contribution plan expense - 3%o to Employee provident Fund

I I Other operating expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 22.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 24)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 23)
Administration and establishment expenses
Software license fees and hardware maintenance expenses
Loan modification loss
Provision for claims
Communication expenses

Advertising and promotional expenses
Travel and transport expenses

Consultancy fees

Subscription fees

Expense relating to short term leases
Donation
Directors' emoluments
Auditors' remuneration
ProfessionaI and legaI expenses

11,652

15,393
566,633 27,045

2021 2020

541 ,471
3,705

21,457

82,04s

127

933

8,553

1.209,833

(2,2s6)

(3,07e)

23,063
91,658 1,227,561

2021 2020

317,751
12,t34

267,056

10,593

4,000 3,275

333,885 280.924

202r 2020

5t,776
12,676

25,040
42,559
45,972

24,341

18,506

I 1,095

l3,177
9,536
6,065

8,050

3,940
2,s33
1,320

94t
4,274

5 1,680

t3,237
12,79t
44,637

48,999

24,195
22,437

13,421

12,1 I 8

9,909
6,974
5,454
5,414
2,630
1,562

1,068

4,288Other expenses
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l2 lncome tax expense

Income tax
lncome tax charge (Note 12.2)
Adjustment in respect of Income tax of prior years

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (Note 12.3)

Income tax expense reported in the statement of cornprehensive income (Note 12. l)

Effective tax rate (Excluding det'erred tax)
Ilffective tax rate (lncluding def'erred tax)

12.2 lncome tax liability

At I January

Income tax charge for the year

Adjustment in respect of prior year
Tax paid during the year
As at 3l December

Property, Provision of
plant and loans and

Lease equipment receivables

543.377

87,486

2020

362.7 42

43,8 r 0 (237 .43 8)

12,l Reconciliation of the income tax expenses

A reconciliation bctrveen taxable income and accounting profit multiplied by Income tax rate is as fbllows.

Accounting profit before tax
Tax effect at the Income tay, rate - 25%o

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect ofdeductible expenses
Under/(over) provision oftaxes in respect ofprior years
Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income

2021 2020

2.536.692 450.37r
634.173
43,814

(e0.800)

87,

Il2.593
49.85 5

(37.r43)

674.673 I .3 04

2 t% 8lo/o

210/o 2g%

2021 2020

I 9l ,660
543,377

65,615
(3 73,093)

342,389
362,'742

(5 r3.17 r)
427,559 191.660

12.3 Deferred tax

'lhe lollowing table shows del'erred tax assets recorded on the statement of financial position and changes recorded in the
statement of comprehensive income and other comprehensive income net of tax.

Net gains on re-
Revaluation measuringof

of bank FVOCI equity
premises investments

2,853 (42,374) 66,n5 ( I 1.440)

Deferred tax assets /(liabilities)

As at I January 2020
Other comprehensive income net oltax
Statement olchanges in equitl
Statement of comprehcnsive income

As at 3l December 2020

As at I January 2021
Other comprehensive income net of tax

Statement ofchanges in equity
Statement of comprehensive income
As at 3l December 2021

(6 r,2 r3)

389

t92,259

389

880

'fotal

880

(s2,277)

(8.93 6)

(37.t23)
(8.93 6)

880

237.438(2,853 ) 4.3 80 23 5.9 il
(37,994) 302.026 ( r 0.560) (61.213) 192.259
(37.994) 302.026 ( 10,560)

880

54,222 (98.03 2) (43 ,8 r0)

-3 l-
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l3 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders by the
weighted average number ofordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders ofthe Bank by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weilhted average number of
ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the ditutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares. As there were no potential ordinary equity outstanding at year end, diluted eamings per share is equal to the
basic earnings per share for the year.

The protit and ordinary share details used in the basic/diluted earnings per share calculations are given belorv.

2021 2020
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic/diluted earnings per share (MVR)

r.862.019

5.381"920

346

325.067

5.381,920

60

t4

'l'here rvere no transactions involving ordinarl'shares or potential ordinary shares betrveen the reporting date and the
date of the completiorr of these llnancial statements which would require the restatement of earnings per share.

Dividends per share

2021 2020l4.l Declared and paid during the year
First and final dividend of MVR 26 per share rvas declared for 2019 in2020.
flowever the payout of dividend for 2019 was deferred by MMA as a prudent
measure against COVID-19 and was paid in 2021

First and final dividend of MVR l5 per share was declared for zo20 and paid in
2021 80.729

14.2 Proposed for approval at the Annual General Meeting (not recognised as a liability as at 3l December)

2021 2020
First and final dividend
Dividend per share 2021 : MVR 35 (2020: MVR I 5)
Interim dividend
Dividend per share 2021: MVR 13

Total Dividend 80.729

l5 Cash and cash equivalents

2020
Cash in hand (Note 36.1)
Balances rvith other banks

5,546,920 r.781 .676

l6 Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority

2021 2020
Statutory deposit Ibr Conventional banking
Statutory deposit for Islamic banking

2.971,388 3.086.212
MMA instructed to increase the local currency minimum reserve requirement back to l0% on June 2021 follorving
the reduction of the minimum reserve requirement for commercial banks temporarily from 10% to 5% and 7.5o/o for
foreign and local currencies respectively, of demand deposits and time deposits (excluding interbank deposits of other
banks in Maldives and letter of credit margin deposits) during the year 2020. These deposits are not available for the
Bank''s day-to-day operations. Rufiyaa deposits carry an interest rate of l%o per annum and fore ign currency deposits
carry an interest rate of 0.01% per annum on balances equal to or below the minimum reserve requirement. Further
the Bank maintains a separate reserve of 5% and l0o/o for foreign and local currencies respectively
time deposits tbr its Islamic banking operations. and no interest income is earned on these

I 39.930

188.367

69.965
2s8.332

2021

80.729

686.92t
999

658, I 93

1,123,483

2.813.076

158,312
2,979,900

106,3t2
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l7 Placements with banks

Placements with banks

Less: total impairment for placement with banks (Note 20)
Net placements with banks

l8 Loans and receivables to customers

Gross loans and receivables

Less: total impairment for loans and receivables to customers (Note 20)
Net loans and receivables

l8.l Product wise analysis

Commercial term loans

Overdrafts

Lui loans

Islamic fi nancing faci lities

Credit cards

Staff loans

Development banking loans

Trade finance

18,2 Currency wise analysis

Maldivian Rufiyaa

United States Dollar

Euro

Singapore Dollar

l9 Financial assets at amortized cost

Debt instruments:
Government of Maldives treasury bills
Govemment of Maldives treasury bonds
Bonds issued by overseas government
Corporate bonds
Wakala investments
Less: total impairment for financial assets at amortized cost (Note 20)

2021 2020

5,622,774

(6,790)

4,081,690

7)

5,615,994 4,075,833

2021 2020

17,225,389

(1,668,',t22
16,484,777

15,556.667 t 4,45g,ggg

2021 2020

t7 ,225,389 t6.484,777

2021 2020

| 1 ,345,927

5,873,432

3,345

2,68s

10,279,490

6,203,276

1,767

254

t7 ,225,389 16,484.777

2021 2020

6,673,696
201,069
307,293

49,594

50,000

5,801,676

201,069
307,293

7 5,965
50,000

5 158

-JJ-

7,279,367 6,433,845

11.559,050 11,179,750

1,641,048 1,870,903

1,986,674 t.690,074

1,311,633 1,071,914

428,936 399,158

261,994 227 ,387

t 4,285 33,970
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20 Movement in provision for impairment losses

Loans and
receivables to

custom ers

Financial
assets at

amortized
cost

Pla cem en ts

with banks
Other

receiva bles

As at 1 January 2020
Net charge to profit or loss (Note 9)
Reversal of interest
Written-off during the year as

uncollectible

As at 3l December 2020
As at I January 2021

Net charge to profit or loss (Note 9)
Reversal of interest

Written-off during the year as

uncollectible

As at 3l December 2021

2l Financial assets at FVOCI

Equity instruments:
Equities - quoted (Note 2l .l )
Equities - unquoted (Note 21.2)

2l.l Equities - quoted

Total

995,652
t,227,561

68,720

(22t,s22) ( l, r8 t) (222,703)

2,024,878 2,1 58 s,85 7 36,337 2,069,230

967,847

1,209,833

68,720

4,4t4
(2,2s6)

8,936

(3,079)
t4,455
23,063

2,024,878

82.045
18,764

2,158
127

5,85 7

933

36,337

8,5 53

2,069,230
91,658

18,764

(456.96s) (20,s42) (477,s07)

2,285 6,790 24,349 1,702,145

2021 2020

243,035

58r
244,58s

581

243,616 245,t66

202t 2020

No. of
sh a res

15,030

8,2 l0

Per share Per share
price (US$)

Amount
MVR)

200,012

44,573

price ( US$)
Amount
(MVR) No. of shares

Visa Incorporated

MasterCard Incorporated

866.84

3s9.32

r98,r6s

44,910

15,030

8,210

874.92

356.94

21.2 Equities - unquoted

Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial
Telecommunication (SWIFT)

___243,03s 244.585

202t 2020

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount

6 s8t 6 581

------s8r ______l!..!_
The value of a SWIFT share is re-calculated every year and confirmed upon approval of the financial statements at
the General Meeting.

-34-
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22 Property, plant and equipment

22.1 Cost/fair value

Land Buiklings

Buildings
on

lcase holtl
la nd

Computor I urniture 0l'lice
equipment

ll oto r
r ehicles 'l'ota 

I
hartlware and fittings

As at I January 2020

Transler from CWIP

Reclassification at cost

Disposals/written-off

As at 3l December 2020

Transfer fiom CWIP

Disposals/written-off

As at 3l December 202 I

244,472

42,802

(4,046)

120,058

6,231

578

(r,r2l)

54.3 5 5

6,57 5

5,2t2
(4,245)

t2,240 732.487

- t26.487

l1 1.200

1 4 1.200

t21,7 44

68,463

(878)

38,4r8

2,416

(866)

(65) (1r,r23 (r,4t8) (17.972)
189,329

18.019

39,903

651

272,105

28,858

t25,7 46

8,774

61,897

8.03 5

t0,822

943

(2,369)

9.396

84 r.002

6s.280

( r 9.403)

886.879

588 0

l4 I .200 20'1.348 40.554 284.37 5 131,28 r 69.725

22.2 In the course of construction (C!VIp)

19,il5
49,434

(68,463)

r35

6.200

(6,23t)
6.747

(6,5 75)

27,562

t22,107

(126,48'7)

5,980

9.61 r

2,332

50,1 l6
(42,802)() ,416)

As at I January 2020

Additions at cost

Transfers at cost

As at 3l December 2020

Reclassifi cation at cost

Additions at cost

Transfers at cost

As at 3 I December 2021

As at I January 2020

Depreciation charge for the
year

Reclassification

Disposals/written-off

As at 3l December 2020
Depreciation charge for the
year

D isposals/written-off

As at 3 I December 2021

- 86 13.175

3.642 ( 12,468)

- 14,291 1,602

- ( 18.019) (65 l)

t04

6.413

2,27 6

t7t
2,413

5,485

(8,035)

9,646

23.926

(28.8 5 8 )

10.822

9.396

23.t82

864.1[t4

893,304

943

943

48.5 23

(8 .77 4) 280
1.658 4,714 _ 19 34 _ 6,425

r4 I ,200 r89,415 53,078 281.75 l 125,850 62.068
'l otal cost/fair value 2020
'I'otal cost/fair value 2021

22.3 Depreciation and impairment

14t.200 207.348 42,212 28 9.0{t9 r 34,300 69,7 59

fi,329 t4,126 146,949 79,603 40,439 8,422

5,481

(5e)

1,982

(r4r)
(65)

r 5,902

1,495

23.039

(3,592)
(t t,122)

13.004

190

7.689

3.60 r

(4.24s)

300.867

5t.776

628

578

,l2 r)
tss,274 91,676 47,484 8,926

(r
16,754

8,063 2 t,898

( 14,909)

I 1,959

(232)

7,522

(203 )

743

(2,369)

336.0 r6

5 r.680

(17,713)

22.1 Net book value

As at 3 I December 2020

As at 3l December 202 I

l4 1.200

l4 1.200

24,811 17.397 162.263 I 03.403 54.803 7.300 369.983

t'72.661 37.t'76 t26.177 34,174 14,584 t.897 528" I 69
21.ti I-5182.53 I

-35
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22.6

))1

22.8

22.5 At 3 I December 2021, Property, plant and equipment includes fully depreciated assets which are still in use, the
cost of which amounted MVR 223,914,969/- (2020: MVR 2OO,S77,602l_).

There were no restrictions on the title of property, plant and equipment as at the statement of financial position
date' Further, there were no items of proper-ty, plant and equipment pledged as securities against liabilities as at
the statement of financial position date.

Information on valuation of freehold land and buildings of the Bank

The Bank applies the revaluation model for the entire class of freehold land and buildings for measurement after
initial recognition. Freehold land and buildings of the Bank are revalued by independent professional valuers
every five years or more frequently if the fair values are substantially different from carrying amounts, to ensure
that the carrying amounts do not differ from the fair values as at the reporting date.

The Bank revalued its premises as at 3l December 2017 and the valuation was performed by Gedor Consulting
Pvt. Ltd, Professional Valuers. The valuation was based on either of the depreciated replacement cost or the
market comparable method. The fotlowing parameters were applied in arriving at fair value:

The main level 2 and 3 inputs used by the Gedor Consulting Pvt. Ltd are derived and evaluated as follows:

' Land - Price per square foot are estimated based on comparable transactions and industry data

' Building - Consffuction rate for buildings are estimated based on comparable transactions and industry data

Carrying amounts of freehold land and buildings if stated at cost

Land 2020

Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

58,731 59,731

58,731 59,731

2020Buildings 2021

Cost

Additions at cost
Reclassification at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

22.9 Property, plant and equipment disposed during the year

Sales proceeds

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

(Loss) / profit from disposal of property, plant and equipment

116,525 104,525
18,019 69,463

- (878)
(66,133) (55,585)
68 25

2021 2020

1l l1

345 1,352

t9,403
(17 ,713)

17,972

( 16,628)

1,690 1,344

8

use

o

* *
36
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(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

23 Right-of-use assets

Buildings at cost 2021 2020

As at 1 January

Additions

D i spo s a I s/wri tten -o ff
As at 3l December

Depreciation and impairment

As at I January

Depreciation charge for the year (Note I 1)

D i sposal s/written -o ff
As at 3l December

Net book value
As at 31 December

Amortisation and impairment

As at I January

Amortisation charge for the year (Note I I )
D i spos a I s/written -off
As at 31 December

197,956

24,330

l9 8l

203,93 g

13,641

(19,723)

202,367 197,856

41,690

12,791

( 10,526)

27,6t7
25,040

(10,967)
43,955 41.690

158,412 t56,166

2021 2020

23.1

24

The Bank has elected not to revalue its asset class recognized under right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Computer software
Cost

As at 1 January

Transfer from CWIP
D i sposa I s/written -o ff
As at 31 December

In the course of construction (CWIP)

As at I January

Additions at cost

Transfers at cost

As at 3l December

Total cost as at 3l December

I 59,571

41,391

153,328

6,334
(e t)

200,962

22,852

29,521

(41,391)

6,856

22,330
(6,334)

10,982

2t 1,944 192,423:

103,787

13,237

91,202

12,676

(e l)
I l'7 ,024 r03,787

Net book value
As at 3l December 94,920 78,636

Nature and amortisation method

Intangible assets represent acquisition of computer software from third parties and are amortised over the
estimated useful life of 5 - l0 years on a straight line basis

21.r

-37 -
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(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

24.2 lntangible assets as at the repofting date include fully amortised assets amounting to 36,937,031/- (2020: MVR
27,774,4431-).

25 Other assets

2021 2020
Deposits and prepayments

Card receivables
Other receivables

Un-amortised cost on staff loans (Note 25.1)

25.1

26

Maldivian Rufiyaa
United States Dollar
Euro

Singapore Dollar

27 Term debt and other borrowed funds

Borrowings from Govemment of Maldives (Note 27. l):
International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) credit line
Asian Development Bank (ADB) credit line
Islamic Development Bank (lDB) credit line

Borrowings from commercial banks and other financial instituitions abroad
(Note 27.2)
Borrowings from commercial banks local

217,493
276,969
305,445

35,125
835,021

241,563

t27,390
)) 7\1

32,599

Less : Provision for other losses (Note 20)
423,899

48 J 33

____!.10,64_ ___ 381,s s2_

Un-amortised cost on staff loans

The total income lost to the Bank as a result of offering loans to staff at rates below market rates is considered
as a prepaid benefit to staff and is amortised over the life of the staff loan.

Due to customers

2021 2020
Total amount due to customers 27 592 2l,g2g,l69

_ JJ_]3)_,sw_A22e)6e_
26,1 Product wise analvsis

2021 2020
Demand deposits
Saving deposits
Time deposits
Wadi'ah deposits of BML Islamic
Saving deposits of BML Islamic
Time deposits of BML Islamic
Margins on letters of credit
Margins on bank guarantee

27,331,592 2t,929,t69

26,2 Currency wise analysis

202r

r6,082,075

8,005,513
1,804,930

90s,294
414,462

25,812
74,960

I1,908,217
6,9t9,349
2,048,176

763,098
233,697

24,420
17,491

l8 546 t4 72t

15,585,913

I 1,589,569

I 56,016

95

12,599,133

9,291,459
48,306

272
27 .331,592 21,929,169

2021 2020

2,796

14,080

22,266

927,416

t72,674

3,906

31,062

19,43 5

684,633

t67,670

-38
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27,1 Borrowings from Government of Maldives

l he Bank received lunds lrom the above institutions through on-lending agreements with the Government of Maldives.

27'2 Borrowings from commercial bank and other financial instituitions abroad

Borrowings from commercial banks and other financial instituitions w'ere obtained from time to time fbr shor.t term liquidityrequirenrent as well as to support lending to customers with their working capital requirements. trade finance requirements as$'ell as the SME's impacted by covid-19. The Bank has pledged part olits United Siates Dollar (LjSD) Ioan book as securirl
against three term borrorvings lvith three international financial institutions at a loan to value ratio of 1400,,o. 

-l-hc 
outsranding

balance of these three borrowings were usD 60.7 million as at 3l December 2021. 'fhe remaining borrorvrngs fionrcomnrercial banks local are fiee lrom any Bank,s assets pledged as securities.

27.3 Maturity of Borrowings

Lender
Not later than

I year

Later than I
year and not
later than 5 Later than 5

Weighted
average rate of

i nterestvea rs yea rs Cu rrency

Borrowings under Government of
Maldives:

IFAD Credit Line
ADB Credit Line
IDB Credit Line

t,t49
4.177
3,284

t.647
5,936

10,427
3.966
8,554

5.00/o

3.0%
4.0o/o

USD 6 months

LIBOR +
(4.00Yo) or 60/o

flat rate,

4.772o/o to
6.555Yo

SDR / USD
SDR / USD

MVR

Borrowings from commercial banks
and other financial instituitions
abroad

3t0.293 617,124

Borrowings from commercial banks
local

49t.s79 635. I 34

Lease liability

This note provides inlbrmation lor leases where the Bank is a lessee.

Balance as at I January
Contracts added during the year
Finance cost
Derecognition o I contracts
Interest payment

Lease payments during the year
Balance as at 3l December

172.674

USD

3o/o - 3.20Yo USD / MVR

202t

t2.520

28

2020

144,059

24.330
12.239
(e.920)

( r 2.23e)
(6.7,11)

155,143

r 3.64 r

t2,971
(7.869)

(t2.e7 t)
( r 6,856)

15 t.726 I 44.059

28,1 Incremental borrowing rate

The incremental rate used during the year, to determine the incremental borrowing rate applicable to the Bank is 7 .5o/o and goh
for leases up to 5 years and 8% and8.So/ofbr leases more than 51,ears for USD and MVR liabilities respectively.
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Other liabilities

Development f'unds

Sundrl, creditors
Dividend payables

Accrued expenses

Prepaid card accounts

Cashier's cheques

i,LqgJr*__ul!!1_
Sundry creditors consist of cards & rnerchant payables alnounting to MVR 34g.6s5,223 (2020: MVR 312,3g3,s.70),
personnel expenses payable MVR 61,507,3 14 (2020: MYR 24,794,224), provision for other clairns of MVR 24.195.353
(2020: MVR Nil) and miscellaneous payabte amounting to MVR l9,l 88,1 10 (2020: MVR 19, I 3g. I 25).

30 Share capital

O rdina 11,

share

capital

As at I January 2021
As at 3 I Decenrber 202 I

The total authorized number of ordinary shares are 16.000.000 shares (2020: 16.000.000 shares) $.ith a par Value ol'MVR 50
per share (2020: MVR 50 per share).

Share prerniultl is the atrourrt received b1 a bank over and abore the tace value ol'its shares issued.

Other reserves

.\ssigned Reserve for
Statutorl' capital (|eneral Revaluation I.'VOCI loan loss

rescrve reserve reserve reserve reserve l otaI

29

3l

2021 2020

539.77 s

454.546

59,855

20.968

25,1 00

t08

656.993

356.326
t'78.37',l

25,881

I 6,045

682

No. of
shares

Share
premium

'l'otal share
capital

As at I January 2020

Transfbrred during the year
2020

As at 3 I December 2020

Transf'erred during the year
2021
As at 3 I Decentber 202 I

6,000 4,972,329

- 902.71'7

I 50,000 lL6,790

(2,640)

156,83 I

26.80s

5,401.950

926.882

I 50.000 1 14,150

(2.640)

I 83.636

(r,r6r)

6328,832

244.057

6,000 5,875.046

- 247.858

150.000 6.000 f ,122,904 I 1 1.510 182,47s 6.572^889

(a) Statutory,reserve

The Bank conrplied rvith the requirement of the Banking Act of'Maldives to rnaintain a nrinimurrr paid-up capital ol'not less
than MVR 150 nrillion.

(b) Assigned capital reserve

ln accordance r.vith the loan agreernent entered into in 1995 bets'een the Bank and the GoYernment olMaldiYes on the Atolls
Credit and Developrrent Banking Pro.lect. an assigned capital reserve of'MVR 6 nrillion was created.

(c) General reserve

ceneral reserve represcllts the aluounts sct asidc liorn the Bank's pro{its to rneet firture (knorvn or unknorrrr) obligarions.'l he
general reservc nta_\ not be used to declare dividcnds.

(d) Ilevaluation reserve

Revaluation reserve represeltts the diilerence betueen the initial acquisirion cost and fair yalue ofland and buildings.
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3l Other reserves (continuecl)

(e) FVOCI reserve

3l.l

Provision for impairment of loans and receivables

Balance at I January 2020
Impairment movement during 2020
As at 3l December 2020
Impairment movement during 202 I

As at 3l December 2021

Net gains on re-measuring of F-VOCI llnancial assets is recognised as a reserve to the statement of changes in
equity.

(f) Reserve for loan loss provision

The excess of provision for loan losses as per MMA Prudential Regulation 2015/R-l6g over the impairment
provision loss as per IFRS 9 is maintained in a separate reserve in the statement of changes in equity. As of the
date of statement of financial position, impairment provision as per IFRS 9 was higher than loan loss provision
as per MMA Prudential Regulation 2015/R-168 and therefore the reserve for loan loss provisions balance is
zero. The amount ofreserve created earlier has been transfened to retained eamings.

Movement in reserve for loan loss provision

The movement in reserve for loan loss provision arises due to difTerences in impairment amounts provided
between IFRS 9 and MMA provision base (MMA Prudential Regulation 2015/R-168: Regulation on Asset
Classification, Provisioning and Suspension of Interest).

The reserve was established on I January 2015 and the movement in balances during the year is as follows.

Reserve for
loan loss

provisionMMA IFITS

891,962

923.569

967,847

r.057,03 I

1,815.53 I 2,024,878

r 56)

1.668.722

31.2 Movement in provision for loan losses as per MMA Prudential Regulation guidelines;

(i) Specific provision
As at I .lanuary

Provision made during the year

Provision reversed during the year
Loans written-offduring the year as uncollectible
As at 3l December

(ii) General provision
As at I .lanuary

Provision made during the year
Provision reversed during the year
As at 3l December

Total provision

(643.90s)

l.l71.626

1,333,623

l92,5g3
(350,066)

(306.028)

970,122

296.222

47,644
(161,419)

182.447

616,7 st
963,717

(e0. r 05)
( 156 ,740)
333.623

r32.908

206.010

(42.6e6)

296,222

31.3 Movement in interest in suspense as per MMA Prudential Regulation guidelines;

As at I .lanuarv

Amount suspended during the year
Amount reversed during the year
Loans written-offduring the year as uncollectible
As at 3l December

31.4 Total equity

Total equiry of the Bank excluding Reserve tbr
MVR 8.800,524,314 (2020: MVR 7.019.514,763)

1,052,569 1.629.84s

2021 2020

142,303

123.57 4

( 15.409)

64.782
185.686

loan loss provision (Note 3l.l) as at 3l December 20Zl was

I 85.686

87 ^524
(3,215)

( 1 s0,938)
I 19,057

-4t-
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(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at either fair value or amoftized cost.
The summary of significant accounting policies in Note 3.7 describes how the classes of financial instruments are
measured and how the related income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised, The
following table provides details of the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities by category as defined in
IFRS 9 Financial instruments in the statement of financial position.

As at 3l December 2021 Fair value
through other

comprehensive
income

Amortized cost (FVOCt Total
Financialassets
Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Other assets

Total financial assets

243,616

243,6t6 37,940,759

5,546,920

2,971,399

5,615,994

15,556,667

7,279,367

243,616

726,817

27,331,592

1,139,233

151,',726

1,064,962

27,331,592

I ,139,233
151,726

1,064,962

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds
Lease liability
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities

As at 3l December 2020

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Lease liabilify
Other liabilities
Total financial Iiabilities

5,546,920
2,971,388

5,615,984

15,556,667

7,279,367

29,687 ,413 - 29,687,413::
Fair value

through other
comprehensive

income
(FVOCD TotalAmortized cost

1,781,67 6

3,086,212

4,075,933
14,459,999

6,433,845

245,166

1,781,676

3,086,212

4,075,833

14,459,999

6,433,845

245,166

293,737293,737
30,t31,202 245,166 ---30]%-36E-

21,929,169
906,706

144,059

21,929,169
906,706

144,059

1,209,2201,209,220

24,189,15424,t99,154

726,8t7
3't,697,143
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33 Fair value of financial instruments

Financial instruments recorded at fair value

The fair value of flnancial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under
culrent market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. The fbllowing is a description of how fair values are determined for financial
instruments that are recorded at fair value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Bank's estimate of
assumptions that a market participant would make when valuing the instruments.

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
'Ihe Bank uses the follor.ving hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique.

Level l: Quoted (unad.iusted) prices in active markets lor identical assets or liabilities.

I-evel 2: Other techniques fbr which all inputs rvhich have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable. either directly or indirectly..

Level 3: Techniques which use inputs that have a significant et'fect on the recorded fair value that are not based on
observable market data.

33.1 Financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets at FVOCI consists of quoted and unquoted equity securities. Quoted equity securities are valued
using quoted market prices in the active markets as at the reporting date. Unquoted shares are valued as explained
in Note 21.

33.2 Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank's financial instruments
that are not carried at fair value in the financial statements. This table does not include the fair values of non-
financial assets and non-financial liabilities,

3 I -Dec-2 I 3 I -Dec-20
Carrying

amount Fair value
Carrying

amount Fair value
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at FVOCI
Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds
Lease liability
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities

5.546,920 5,546,920 1,781,676 t.78t,616

2,971,388

5,6 I 5,984

t5,s56,667

7,279,367

243,616

726,817

_37 940Js9_

27,331,592

1.139,233

151.726

t,064,862

2,971,388

5,615,984

15,556,667

7,279,367

243,616

726,8t7

27.331.592

1,139.233

t 51,726

1.064,862

3,086,212

4,075,833

14,459,899

6,433,845

245,166

293,737

3,086,212

4,075,833

14,459,899

6,433,845

245.t66
293.'137

7,940,759 30,376,368 30,376,368

21,929,169 2t.929.t69
906,706 906,706
t44,059 t44.0s9

t,209,220 1,209,220
29,687.413 29,687

-43
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33.2 Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy

As at 3l December 2021 Level I

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority

Placernents with banks

Loans and receivables to customers

Financial assets at amoftized cost

Financial assets at FVOCI

Other assets

Total financial assets

Level 2 Level 3 Total

243,035

5,546,920

2,971 ,388
5,615,994

'1,279,367

581

726,917

15,556,667

5,546,920

2,971,388

5,615,994

15,556,667

7,279,367

243,616

726,817
243,035 141,057 I

151,726

1,064,862

7 37,940,7595

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds

Lease liability
Other liabilities
Total fi nancial liabilities

As at 3l December 2020

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds
Lease liability
Other liabilities
Total fi nancial Iiabilities

27,331,592 27,331,592
I ,139 ,233 I ,139,233

- I 51,726

1,064,862

Level I Level 2 Level 3

1,216,589 28,470,825 29,687,413

Total

244,595

1,791,676

3,086,2t2
4,075,933

6,433,845

581

14,459,999

1,791 ,676

3,096,212

4,075,933

14,459,899

6,433,945

245,166

244,585
293,737 - 293.737

r5,671,884 t4,459,899 30,376,368

- 21,929,169 21,929,169
- 906,706 906,706

144,059 - 144,059
1,209,220 - 1,209,220
I ,353 ,279 22,835 ,87 5 24,189,154

33.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial
instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements.

. Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value

For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short term maturity it is assumed that the carrying
amounts approximate their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits, savings accounts
without a specific maturity and unquoted shares. The fair value of fixed rate financial assets (eg: loans and
advances) are estimated based on discounted cashflow approach. The carrying amount of such assets
approximate fair value since the loans are given at the current market interest
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34 Risk management

34.1 Introduction

Risk management is an ongoing process of identification, measurement and monitoring, and is subject to risk
limits and internal controls as outlined in the Bank's risk appetite statement. The Bani,s most significant risk
exposures are considered to be in the areas of credit risk, market risk, operational risk and liquidity risk. The
impact of other risks such as reputational risk, compliance risk and legal risk are also monitored carefully along
with external risks such as changes in the political, regulatory and economic environment. During the year, the
Bank progressed with assistance from external risk management experts, to adopt Basel 3 standards along with
various additional risk management measures and governance required.

The bank has developed a comprehensive risk governance framework to oversee its risk environment. Bank is
exposed to negligible market risk. Cyber risk, legal risk reputation, compliance and fraud are all monitored by
specialized resources within the bank and reported to risk committees and Board on a regular basis.

34,2 Risk management objectives, policies and processes

The primary objective of risk management is to forecast and assess future uncertainty of the future in order to
make the best possible decision in the present, in order to protect the Bank's stability and financial strength. The
Bank's risk management policies are established to identif, and analyze risks facingthe Bank, to set appiopriate
risk limits and controls and to monitor adherence to these limits and controls. etl iist management policies are
reviewed regularly to address and reflect, changes in market conditions, portfolio of products and services
offered by the Bank as well as prevailing regulatory requirements.

The measurement of financial instruments is done in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial instruments for asset
classification and provisioning, with appropriate assessment of expectation of future cash flows. The most
appropriate methods of ascertaining the risk of such instruments is done by way of assessing the future
settlement plan' Early identification of any issues is essential to address the challenges of the environment and to
determine the future cash flows of the Bank. Having identified the categories of the measurements, the Bank
implemented mitigating controls for enhanced portfolio management. Separate management methods were
introduced for collateral, risk rating, and cash flow attached to each instrument. Stringent measures were
introduced for products which requiring close monitoring.
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34.3 Risk management structure

overall responsibilitl' lor risk management in the Bank lies with the Board of Directors. The Bank has in place
appropriate policies which define its risk appetite and risk management framervork, including the responsibilities of senior
management in implementing these policies. Committees at both Board and Management leuels ensure appropriate risk
governance is embedded in the organization's structure. The Bank's governance model is structured according to the
principles of three lines of def'ense lvhich separates the Bank's control tunctions (Risk management, compliance and
internal audit) liom its risk-taking functions and risk o\t,ners.

Board Level Committee
Management Level Committee
Structural changes to Board Committee tbllowing 38th AGM

34.3.1

34.3.2

34.3.3

Board Risk Committee (BRC)

Board Risk Committee reviews the Bank's risk strategy, risk tolerance and risk appetite which the Board of Directors
considers acceptable, keeping in mind current and potential future risks and operating environment. ln addition, examine
the adequacy and effectiveness of Bank's risk management framework, which cover principles, policies, guidelines,
instructions, methodologies. systems, processes, procedures and people. The Committee also oversee risk culture of the
Bank, and review the Bank's reputation, non-financial risks, business continuity plans.

Board Audit Committee (BAC)

Board Audit Committee reviews the integrity of the Bank's financial statements and financial reporting process and its
systems of internal accounting and financial controls, ln addition, oversees Bank's Compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, reviews the engagement of the external auditors and the evaluation of the independence, objectivity and
performance of the external auditors. The Chief internal auditor reports directly to the Committee.

Board Credit Committee (BCC)

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsib
to a specific level and the Committee's responsibilit
Bank's Delegarion o I Author.itl, Pol ic-v.

ility fbr the oversight of credit risk to the Board Credit Committee up
ies include reviewing and approving credit proposals in line with the

Board ol Directors

Shari'ah Advisory
Committee

Internal Audit

Executive CornrnittceManagement llisk
Conrmittee (MI{C)

Management Credit
Committee (MCC)

Assct and l,iahility'
Managemcnl

Comrniltce (At.C'O)

Board
Credit

Committee
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34.3.4 Corporate Governance Committee (CGC)

The Corporate Covernance Committee assists the Board in establishing Bank as a recognized leader in
Corporate Govemance, advice on Govemance principles and compose a diverse and skilled Board. The
Committee reviews Bank's Articles of Association and monitors effectiveness of Board operations, performance
and governance policies.

34.3.5 Executive Committee (EXCO)

Executive Committee is responsible fbr overall management and operation of the Bank. Review of weekly MIS
from each business area as well as monthly financial accounts and data including key risk indicators, Execute
strategies and monitor performance with the Bank,s strategic plan.

34.3.6 Management Risk Committee (MRC)

The Management Risk Committee is established to ensure the Bank's risk management framework is robust and
well-functioning. The Committee reviews the risk environment and the Bank;s performance against the full
spectrum of risks faced in its activities, determining appropriate preventive and mitigating actions where
necessary. The Committee is responsible for ensuring that risk management strategies, policies, systems and
plans are in place in line with the Committee's objectives and responsibilities.

34.3.7 Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO)

The Asset and Liability Management committee (ALCO) is responsible for the sound management of Asset
Liability Management (ALM) by monitoring and managing the liquidity. inrerest rate and fbreign exchange risk
as well as ensuring that adequate Iiquidity is maintained to manage the expected and unexpected f'luctuations in
the assets and liabilities of the Bank.

34.3.8 Management Credit Committee (MCC)

Management Credit Commiftee is the credit approving Committee with responsibilities delegated upto a specitic
level and the Committee's responsibilities include reviewing and approving credit proposals in line with the
Bank's Delegation of Authority Policy. Further the Committee ensures that the Bankb loan portfblio and credit
risk profile are in compliance with the Bank,s Credit policy.

34.3.9 Operational Risk Committee (ORC)

The operational Risk Committee (oRC) is established to ensure Bank's overall operational risk management
standards are robust and well-functioning. The Committee acts as a forum for discussion on efficient and
effective management of Bank's operational risks, and determining appropriate preventive and mitigating actions
where necessary.

i4.4 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss due to the failure of a customer or a counterparty to meet their contractual
obligations. Credit risk arises mainly from interbank, commercial loans, consumer loans, advances, and loan
commitments arising from such lending activities but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as
through tlnancial guarantees, letters ofcredit, endorsements, and acceptances.

For the tlnancial year ended 3 I st Decembe r 2021 , Stage 3 provisions improved from zsoh to 17 .5yo. There were
substantial improvements in underlying cash f'lows of large customers in the tourism industry, who were affected
by weak economic conditions caused by the pandemic. The segment performance has improved and has
performed in excess of prior expectations. The remaining stage 3 loans continue to improve and have been fully
covered by the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) provision.

Despite the substantial economic slowdown and consequent pressure on the Bank's lendi ng portfblios due to
Covid-19 the Bank's asset quality continues to improve and Bank remains both I iquid and substantially, well-
capitalized. Bank's credit risk improved during the year and is in line with the prescribed risk appetite
parameters set by the Board. The Bank is prudent in its approach to credit risk and is well-positioned to absorb
any potential increases in provisions tbr credit losses. Bank's moratoriums on existing loans ended in 2021
Throughout the pandemic Bank continu ed to extend assistance to customers and more broadly the economy in
the form of treasury bills to the Governnlent. tacilitating trade flows, new loans, working capital tacilities. and

international agencies into the economytacilitating disbursement of relief funds from
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34.4.1 Management of credit risk

The effective management of credit risk is a critical component of the Bank's comprehensive approach to its
overall risk management and is fundamental to the safety and soundness of the Bank. The goal of credit risk
management is to maximize the Bank's risk-adjusted rate of return by maintaining credit risk exposure within
acceptable parameters. The Bank manages the credit risk inherent in the entire loan portfolio as well as the risk
in individual credits and transactions. The Bank has a well-defined Credit Policy which has been approved by
the Board olDirectors and which sets out the credit appetite of the Bank. The policy is suppor-ted by detailed
credit guidelines and procedures.

The Bank's credit risk management process broadly encompasses the following;

(a) Loan origination and risk appraisal comprising initial screening and credit appraisal are conducted for all
loan proposals.

(b) Clearguidelines and policies have been established for loan approvals within delegated credit approval
authorities.

(c) Credit administration and disbursement is performed by the Loan Service Unit (for retail loans) and
Corporate Banking Division (for corporate loans). These units are responsible for ensuring that the
origination and disbursement of credit is made only after stipulated conditions have been met and relevant
securiry documents obtained in order to protect the Bank's rights as lender.

(d) Timely portfolio reviews are performed pertaining to inherent and evolving risk. Additionally,
responsibilities for monitoring and tracking any early warning signals pertaining to a deterioration in the
financial health of borrowers have been assigned to the respective business units who are also responsible
for identi$,ing and managing any customers who need special attention or close monitoring.

(e) Non-performing loans and receivables are managed by the Recoveries Unit. This unit's responsibilities
include restructuring of the credit, monitoring the value of the applicable collateral and liaising with the
customer until all legal recovery matters are finalized.

The Bank's credit risk management process is articulated in the relevant lending policies, which are approved
by the Board of Directors. These policies lay down the conditions and guidelines for the granting, maintenance,
monitoring and management of credit at both individual transaction and portfolio levels. These policies are
consistent with prudent practices and with relevant regulatory requirements, Limits have been prescribed for the
Bank's exposure to any single borrower, group of specific borrowers and specific industries/sectors in order to
avoid concentration of credit risk.

A well structured loan review mechanism is in place and a comprehensive review is carried out on a quarterly
basis for individually significant loans. Customers that require special attention are identified and more frequent
updates are carried out for "Watch List" exposures.

The Bank's policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at
least annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. However, current standards require the
Bank to undertake a quarterly review ofall accounts.

34.4,2 Credit risk measurement

Loans and advances (including loan commitments and guarantees)

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as
the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The
assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults
occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterpanies. The Bank measures
credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Defaulr (LGD). This
is similar to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer
to Note 34.4,3 for more details
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34,4,3 Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a 'three-stage' model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in .Stage l, and has
its credit risk continuously monitored by the Bank.
If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. please refer to Note
34,4.3.1 for a description of how the Bank determines when a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to .Stage 3'.
Please refer to Note 34.4.3.2 for a description of how the Bank defines credit-impaired and default.
Financial instruments in Stage t have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next l2 months. Instruments
in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. please
refer to Note 34'4.3.3 for a description of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in
measuring the ECL.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-
looking information. Note 34.4.3.4 includes an explanation of how the Bank has incorporated this in
its ECL models.

Further explanation is also provided of how the Bank determines appropriate groupings when ECL is
measured on a collective basis (refer to Note 34.4.3.5).

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9:

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3

a

a

a

a

a

(lnitial recognition) (Significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition) (credit-impaired assets)

l2-month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard are
discussed below.

34.4.3.1 Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

The Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one
or more of the following quantitative, qualitative criteria have been met:

Quantitative criteria:

The remaining Lifetime PD at the reporting date has increased, compared to the residual Lifetime pD
expected when the exposure was first recognised, so that it exceeds the relevant threshold as per the table
below.

Criteria

Days past due

Provision percentage as per MMA
Prudential Guidelines
Downgrades - Internal/ MMA

At initial recognition At reporting date

0-30 days

l%
3 l-89 days

5%-20%

ous

* *
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'rhese thresholds have been determined separately for retail, corporate, business and investment portfolios, by,
assessing how the Lifetime PD moves prior to an instrument becoming delinquent. The Lifetime pD
movements on instruments which do not subsequently become delinquent have also been assessed, to identi[,
the "natural" movement in Lifetime PD which is not considered indicative of a significant increase in credit
risk.

Qualitative criteria:

For retail portfolios, if the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria:. Extension to the terms granted
. Previous arrears within the last [12] months

For corporate, business and investment poftfolios, if the borrower is on the watch list and/or the instrument
meets one or more of the following criteria:

. Significant increase in credit spread

' Significant adverse changes in business, financial and/or economic conditions in which the borrower
operates

. Actual or expected forbearance or restructuring
' Actual or expected significant adverse change in operating results ofthe borrower
' Significant change in collateral value (secured facilities only) which is expected to increase risk of

default

' Early signs of cash flow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information (refer to Note 34.4.3.4 for further
information) and is performed on a quarterly basis at a portfolio level for all retail financial instruments held
by the Bank, In relation to colporate and investment financial instruments, where a watch list is used to
monitor credit risk, this assessment is performed at the counterparty level and on a quarterly basis. The criteria
used to identi$, SICR are monitored and reviewed annually for appropriateness by the Bank.

The Bank has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial instrument in the year ended 3 I
December 2021.

34.4.3.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Bank defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-
impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria

' The borrower is past due for 90 days or more on its contractual payments.
' Provision percentage as per MMA Prudential Guidelines has reached 25%o or more against the financial

instrument.

Qualitative criteria

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial
difficulty. These are instances where:

. The borrower is in long-term forbearance

. The borrower is deceased

. The borrower is insolvent

. The borrower is in breach offinancial covenant(s)
' An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial drfficulties
' Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower's financial difficulty. It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruprcy

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied
consistently to model the Probability of Default (pD), Exposure at
(LGD) throughout the Bank's expeoed loss calculations
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An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the
default criteria for a consecutive period of six months. This period of six months has been determined based on
an analysis which considers the likelihood of a financial instrument returning to default status after cure using
different possible cure defi nitions.

34.4.3.3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
The Expected credit loss (ECL) is measured on either a l2-month (l2M) or Lifetime basis depending on
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is
considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the probability of
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), definld as follows:

' The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per,,Definition
of default and credit-impaired" above), either over the next l2 months (l2M pD), or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime pD) of the obligation.

' EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12
months (l2M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving
commitment' the Bank includes the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be
drawn up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, should it occur.

' Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted
exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or
other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default
(EAD). LGD is calculated on a l2-month or Iifetime basis, where l2-month LGD is the percentage of
loss expected to be made if the defaultoccurs in the next l2 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage
of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LCD and EAD for each future month and for each individual
exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood
of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an
ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate
used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying the survival logic on the current l2M pD for each asset type and
each pool for the remaining lifetime of the assets.

The l2-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by
product type, as given below.

' For amonising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by
the borrower over a l2month or lifetime basis.

' For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding
a 'credit conversion factor' which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of
default. These assumptions vary by product type and current limit utilisation band, Uasea on analysis of
the Bank's recent default data.

The l2-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post
default. These vary by product type and are detailed below.

' For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, historical
discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs observed.

' For unsecured products, LGDs are typically set at product level due to the limited differentiation in
recoveries achieved across different borrowers. These LGDs are influenced by collection strategies,
including contracted debt sales and price.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the l2-month and lifetime pD. These
assumptions vary by retail and corporate segment wise. Refer
looking information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.
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The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity profile of the pDs and how
collateral values change etc. - are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis.

There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or assumptions made during the reporting
period.

34.d.3.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information. In an attempt
to identifl, key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit losses, the Bank came to the
understanding that most of the macro economic variables did not indicate a clear representation to each portfolio,
as the statistical hypothesis behind the estimates could not be tested. Accordingly, the Bank found it feasibte and
chose the approach of 'Expert Judgment'to derive the forward looking information to apply on l2 month pD.

In addition to the base (current) economic scenarios, the Bank's management also provide other possible
scenarios along with scenario weightings. The scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting date.
The scenario weightings are determined by expert credit judgement, taking account of the range of possible
outcomes each chosen scenario is representative of.

Economic va riable assumptions

The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 3 I December 20Zl are set our
below.

Tourism
outlook

lnfrastructu re
& Investment

Projects
Unemployment

Rate
Government
expenditureScenarios GDP Inflation

Upside 2 75% 75% 75o/o 75% 75% 75o/o

Upside 90% 90% 90o/o g0% g0% 90%
Base l00yo l00oh lOOo l00o l00o 100%
Downside ll0% ll}It ll}oh llooh ll0% ll0%
Downside 2 l2so/o l25o/o l25o/o lz5yo l25o/o 12506
Downside 3 140% 140% l40o/o l4oyo r4oyo l40o
The weightings assigned to each economic scenario at I January 2021 and 3l December 2021 were as follows:

Corporate weight
Product

Forward multiplier

4j%o

50%

lttv,

100h

t1%
lTYo

l70h
33%
33%

Retail weight 30% - 20% - 30% 20%
Product 38o/o - 22o/o - 30% 2g%
Forwardmultiplier _11!%
Hence for corporate portfolio, the factor 1.11 is multiplied with the default rate to calculate Forward pD.
Similarly, factor Ll8 is multiplied for both retail and business portfolios.

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of
inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The
Bank considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate ofthe possible outcomes that the chosen scenarios
are appropriately representative ofthe range ofpossible scenarios.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact
of any regulatory or legislative, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material impact and
therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and monitored for
appropriateness on an annual basis.
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34.4.3.4 Forward-looking information incorporatecl in the ECL model (continued)

Sensitivity of assumptions employed in ECL working

The lollowing table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the ke1, assumptions emplol,ed
rvith all other variables held constant in the ECL model.

Loan
Credit
Cards

LC OD
Loan

commitment
Total

Tourism outlook

Tourism outlook

Tourism outlook

CDP

CDP

GDP

[Jnemployment rate

Unemployment rate

Unemployment rate

lnf'lation

tnflation

Inflation

Central govt.

expenditure

Central govt.

expenditure

Central govt.

expenditure

lnfrastructure &
investment policies

Infrastructure &
investment policies

lnfrastructure &
investment policies

1,488,448

1,517,058

1,544,43t

1.500,41 I

t.517,058

1.s32.481

1,5 14.012

1.5 t 7.058

I,520. t 01

1,512,792

1,517,058

1.5 I 8,885

I ,5 l2,69g

1,517,059

1.522,077

l0%
l25o/o

t40%

90o/o

100%

l0%

IO0o/o

l0%
l25o/o

l25o/o

l40o/o

l50o/o

l00o/o

1 l0o/o

l25o/o

10,907

I 1.054

I1.t99

r 1.050

I 1.054

I 1,057

I 1,049

1 1.054

r r,056

I I ,010

1 1,054

I 1,1 19

20,449

20.506

20,530

20,399

20.s06

20,643

1.661,936

1,668,722

1.671.628

1,663,759

1,668,722

1,673.744

90o/o 1,510,072 94,176 25,405 10,980 20.330 r.660.963

100% 1,517,058 94,614 25,490 I1,054 20.506 1.668,722

110% 1,522,828 94.350 25,576 t 1.126 20.666 1,674.546

90.796

94,614

97,729

91,997

94.614

96.53 8

92.8s9

94.614

96,369

92.156

94,614

95,667

94,211

94,614

94,339

25. r 88

)a |qo
)\ 1q)

25,324

25,490

25,656

25,490

25.490

25.491

25,490

25.490

25,490

25,440

25,490

25,566

10.789

I I,054

I 1.3 17

r9,830

20,506

2l,166

20,122

20,506

20.874

20.466

20.506

20,547

I .63 5.05 I

1.668.722

1.700.436

1,648,7 51

1,668.722

1,686.746

r.663.878

1.668.722

| .673.566

Male'

* *
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34.4.3.5 Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis

For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is perlbrmed on
the basis ofshared risk characteristics. such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous.

In performing this grouping, there must be suftlcient information for the group to be statistically credible. fhe
Bank segmented its portfolio using a hierarchical approach. The characteristics used to determine groupings
are outlined below:

Segmentation approach

(a) Loan portfolio:

Level I

The assets are segmented on the basis of'the status ofthe borror.ver and/or purpose ofthe loan as under:

- Corporate

- Business banking-Non corporate borrowers rvho have taken loan for business purpose
- Retail - Non corporate borrowers who have taken loan for personal purpose

Level II

- Corporate borrorvers and business banking borrorvers pool. as per Level I above. is lurther segmented
on the basis of the'economic sector' to u,hich they are associated

- Retail borroners pool. as per Level I above. is lurther segmented on the basis of the 'purpose of rhe
loan'

(b) Investment portfolio: No segmentation was done within the investment portfblio.

The Bank monitors and reviews the appropriateness olgroupings on a periodic basis.

34.4.4

34.4.4.1

Credit risk exposure

Maximum exposure to credit risk - Financial instruments subject to impairment

The tbllouing table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of flnancial instruments fbr rvhich an ECt.
allor.vance is recognised. The gross carrying amount ol flnancial assets below also represents the Bank's
maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.

202t
ECL staging

Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL

18.451.346

13,783.02 r

2,689

32,237,056 427,955 3,011,924 35,676,735

(667,27s) (55,520) (955,002) (1,677 ,797)
31,s69 ,78 I 372,335 2,0 56.822 33.9e8.938

Reconciliation to the Financial Statements line items
'f otal

Stage I

l2-month
ECL TotalCredit grade

Investment grade

Standard monitoring

Special monitoring

Default

Gross carrying amount

Impairment allowance
Net carrying amount

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at amortized cost

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers

253,746

17 4,109

30,509

16,7n

2,964,605

18.451.346

14,067.275

193,509

2.964.605

5,546,920

7.279.367

5,615,984

15,556,667
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34'4'4'l Maximum exposure to credit risk - Financial instruments subject to impairment (continued)

2020

ECL staging
Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL

Stage I

l2-month
ECL TotalCredit grade

Investment grade

Standard monitoring

Special monitoring

Default

Gross carrying amount

lmpairment allowance
Net carrying amount

12,299,369

12,079,573

7,496
128,453

93,834
l3 1,129

1,391

4,042,912

12,299,369

12,339,154

102,711

34.4.4.2

4,042,912
24,396,428 222,297 4,175,431 29,794,146

(486,314) (38,522) ( 1,508 ,057) (2,032,893)
23.900.1 14 183.765 2,661,374 26.751.253

Information on how the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured and how the three stages above are
determined is included in Note 34.4.3 'Expected credit loss measurement'.

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is
accepting collateral for funds lent. An approved list of acceptable securities and the applicable percentage of
cash security category are defined under the collateral policy ofthe Bank.

The Bank prepares a valuation of the collaterals obtained as part of the loan origination process. The
management monitors the market value of collateral, and will require additional collateral in accordance with
the underlying agreement. It is the Bank's policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly manner.
The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. This assessment is reviewed periodically. The
principal collateral rypes for loans and advances are:

. Business premises and resoft properties;

. Mortgages over residential properties;

' charges over business assets such as inventory and accounts receivable;
. Vessels and vehicles;
. Debt securities
. Corporate and personal guarantees; and
. Cash

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets, held as collateral. Other
financial assets which do not have a readily determinable market value are valued using models. Non-financial
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third partiei such as independent
professional valuers.

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and receivables depends on the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of
asset-backed securities and similar instruntents, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.

The Bank's policy is to sell the repossessed assets at the earliest possible opportunity and the Bank,s policy
regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period. There has been no
significant change in the overall quality ofthe collateral held by the Bank since the prior period.
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34.4.4,2 Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued)

The Bank closely monitors collateral held lbr financial assets considered to be credit-impaired. as it becomes more
likely that the Bank will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are
credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shorvn belorv.

2021

G ross
Credit-impaired assets

Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts

- Credit cards

- Term loans

- Mortgages

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers
- Small and mcdium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
Total credit-impaired assets

Credit-impaired assets

Loans to individuals:
- Overdratis
- Credit cards

- l'erm loans

- Moftgages

Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers

- Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
Total credit-impaired assets

exposure
Impairment

allowance
Carrying Fair value of

amount collateral held

s,914

6.481

165,760

193.158

2,598,731

5 1,790

(5,914)

(6,086)

(79,307)

(83.692)

(7 r r .887)
(68.1 1 6)

395

86,453

107.697

1.863.340

70.530

r 44.1 83

2.607,n4
31,374

3.01 I .824 002) 2.05 7.885 2,8 53.20 r

2020

Impairment
allowance

Carrying Fair value of
amount collateral held

5,902

21.694

191.815

247.226

3,642,029

66.766

(5,902)

(21,694)

(e0,23 t )
( 1 09,532)

( 1.215.909)

r 01.584

137,694

127.567

168.717

64.790)

2.426,120

1,97 6

3.344,262

42,976

34.4.5

4.17 5.431 _l]i0&9:gL 2,667,374 3.683 a))

Loss allowance

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of f'actors, as described below:

' Transfers between Stage I and Stages 2 or Stage 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant
increases (or decreases) ofcredit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent..step up,,
(or "step down") between l2-month and Lifetime ECL;

' Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases fbr
financial instruments de-recognised in the period;

' Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from regular
refreshing of inputs to models;

' Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;

' Interest unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value basis;
Financial assets derecognised during the
olf during the period (see Note 34.4.6).

period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that rvere written

56-

Gross
exposure



BANK OF MALDIVES I'LC]
NOTES TO TH E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

34.4.5 Loss allowance (continued)

The fbllowing tables explain the changes in the impairment allowance between the beginning and the end ol' the
annual period due to these factors:

2021
Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3

l2-month
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

Impairment allowances as at I Janua ry 2021
Movements with profit or toss impact
Transfers:

Transfer from Stage I to Stage 2

Transt'er from Stage I to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer fiom Stage 3 to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage I
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage I

New Financial assets originated

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

Reversal ofinterest

Total net profit or loss charge during the year

Other movements with no profit or loss impact
wrire-offs

Impairment allowance as at 3l December 2021

Impairment allowances as at I January 2020
Movements with profit or loss impact
Transf'ers:

-lransfer fiom Stage I to Stage 2

Transfer tiom Stage I to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer fiom Stage 3 to Stage 2

Transt'er from Stage 3 to Stage 1

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage I

New Financial assets originated
Changes in PDs/LCDs/EADs

Reversal of interest

Total net profit or loss charge during the year

Other movements with no profit or loss impact
Financial assets derecognized during the period
Write-of fs

Impairment allowance as at 3l December 2020

Total
486.341 38,497 1,508.055 2.032.893

(6,444)

( 1 0,1 65)

79.826

1,626

I 10,807

s,284

I 80.934

38.8r I

(3"668)

3.083

t24.696

10.728

( 1 0,569)

(317 .7 4t)

32.367

I 14.53 I

7.060

(7,486)

(237,915)

(17,557)

l4l,215
50,890

18,764

( 1 9,1 83)

J,J IJ

(5,393)

27,035

50,999

t8 764

17.023 (96,088) 101.869

667.275 5 5.520

(456.965)

955.002

456 965

I,677 797

2020
Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3

l2-month
ECL

408. I 37

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL Total

( 1,365)

(83,220)
18.360

845.877

19,75 I

(il7)
(38,095 )

(17.417)

203.699

t'72.440

68.720

1.273.218

48.439 s24.621 98 1.1 97

19,725

929.097

26,221

(33 r )

(45,095)

(6.470)

214
7,000

3,78 r

99.843

52.164

78.203

(21,198)

2,985
(5. r e8)

I 00,87 I

125.474

68 720

(9.942)

(22t.s22)
1.508,056

(221 ,522)
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34.4.5 Loss allowance (continued)

1'he tbllorving table turther explains changes in the gross carrl,ing amount of the tlnancial assets to help explain
their signilicance to the changes in the loss allou'ance tbr the same portfolio as discussed abo1'e:

2021

Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross carrying amount as at I January 2021
Transfers:

Transt'er from Stage I to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage I to Stage 3

Transf'er from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage I

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage I

Financial assets derecognized during the period
other than write-offs

New financial assets originated
Write-off's
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2021

Cross carrying amount as at I January 2020
Transfers:

Transfer from Stage I to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage I to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage I

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage I
Financial assets derecognized during the period
other than write-ofls
New financial assets originated
Write-offs
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020

Total

24,386,429 222,297 4,175,431 29,794.146

l2-month
ECL

(327,995)

(285.342)

1,080,377

107,298

(1,473,622)

8.749,912

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

288.469

22.748
(3 1,339)

( 1,086,692)

308.326

(21.200)

23, I 80

(119,912)

( 12,538)

27.712

( I 9,669)

3,127

1,548

(8, I 59)

(6,3 l5)
(12,614)

( 1,589,667)( r 03,s07)

203,679

(456.e6s)
8.981.303

(4 56,965 )

32.237.056 427.855 3.01t ,824 35.676.735

2020
Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3

l2-month Lifetime
ECL ECL

21,802.s97 373,267

l22,5ll(121.346)
(2,448.788)

(63, I 35)

t.418
68,359

1gg,g77

(1,218,699)

6,114,429

24.3

Lifetime
ECL Total

1,440,940 23.616.804

(188,89r)

(40,004)

17,t19

2,664,439
61.804
( 1,560)

(72,208)

347.567
(221,522)

1,165

215,651
(1.331)

(142)
(3,849)

986

6.379,116
(221,522)

(44.029) (1.202,732)

86,429 222.285 4,175,43t 28,784,146

Write-off policy

The Bank writes off financial assets. in whole or in part. when it has exhausted all practical recovery effbrts and
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include (i) ceasing enfbrcement activitl' and (ii) where the Bank's recovery method is tbreclosing on
collateral and the value ofthe collateral is such that there is no reasonable expectation ofrecovering in full.

The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding
contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 3l December 2021 was MVR 456,964.53g/.
(2020: MVR 221 ,522,071). The Bank still seeks to recover amounts which it is legally entitled to in f'ull, but
which have been fully/partially written off due to no reasonable expectation of lull recovery.

34.4.6
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34.4.7 Modification of financial assets

l'he Bank sometimes modifies the terms ol loans pror"ided to customers due to commercial renegoriations. or. lbr
distressed loans. rvith a view to maximising recovery.

Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and payment
fbrgiveness. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria rvhich. in the judgement ol
management, indicate that payment rvill most likely continue. These restructured facilities are kept under
continuous review.

The risk of default olsuch assets afier modiflcation is assessed at the reporting date and compared lvith the risk
under thc original terms at initial recognition^ w'hen the modillcation is not substanrial and so does not result in
derecognition olthe original asset (ref'er to Notes 3.7.3 (iii)). l'he llank nronitors the subsequent perlbrmance of'
rroditled assets.'l-he Bank may determinc'that the credit risk has signiticantly improved atier restructuring. so thar
the assets are mor"ed liom stage 3 or Stage 2 (Lif'etime ECt.) to Stage I (12-month ECL). l'his is only the case lbr
assets ivhich have perfbrmed in accordance rvith the nerv terms lbr six consecutive months or more. The Bank
continues to monitor ifthere is a subsequent significant increase in credit risk in relation to such assets through the
use of specilic infbrmation fbr moditled assers.

'1-he tbllowing table includes summarv olloans rl,hose cash llows have been modilled during the 1,ear.

Loans and advance to customers
Amortised cost befbre modification
Net modiflcation loss

9 t8.542.959

9 I 8.542.959

Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI

The investnlents were made tbr strategic purposes rather than with a vierv to profit on a subsequent sale. and the
Bank has no plans to dispose of these investments in the short or medium term.

The iair value ol these investments is MVII 243,616.243 as at 3l December 202 I. 'fhere was no diviclend
recognised during the period nor transf'ers of the cumulative gain within equit1,.

Loans and receivables are summarisett as follows:

202t 2020

34.4.8

34.4.9

Stage I - Performing
Stage 2 - Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
Stage 3 - Credit impaired (Default)
Gross loans and receivables to customers
Less: allolvance for impairment
Net loans and receivables to customers

Commerce
Construction
Fishing

Manufacturing
Transport and services

Tourism

Real estate

Consumer

Other

16,484,777
( 1,668 .722)
15,556 ,667 t4,459

5s7.013
4, I 34,400

I 19.850

57,626

1,434,726

6,3 I 1,5 l5
1.019,600

2,729,997

861 772

r3,785,7 t0
427,855

3,01 I,824
17,225,399

r2.087.059

222.287

t7

878)

.899

Further inibrmation of the impairment allow'ance lbr loans and receivables to customers is provide6 in Note 20.

Loans and receivables - Analysed by industry

202t 2020

582,3 15

4.199.194

185,263

64.649
957.832

6,l9l ,685

985.732

2,295.786

1.022.021

-59-

17,225.389 16,484.777



BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 3l December 2021

(All amounts in MVR'000 unless otherwise stated)

34.1.9 Loans and receivables are summarised as follows: (continued)

By setting various concentration limits under different criteria within the established risk appetite framework (i.e. single
borrower/group, industry sectors, product, counterparty and country etc.), the Bank ensures that an acceptable level of
risk diversification is maintained on an ongoing basis. These limits are continuously monitored and periodically
reviewed by the Audit Risk Management Committee (ARM) to capture the developments in the market, political and
economic environment both locally and globally to strengthen the dynamic portfolio management practices and to
provide an early rvaming on possible credit concentrations.

(a)Stagel-Performing

Currently, the Bank does not maintain an internal credit rating system except tbr exposures which are classified as non-
performing. However, the Bank carries out an in-depth credit risk assessment on a qualitative and quantitative basis
belore granting a f'acility. Exposure to each borrower is reviewed on a scheduled basis.

In evaluating credit risks, the Bank considers qualitative criteria pertinent to the borrower, including management depth
and reputation, the borrower's past track record, the industry, business risks and operating environment. The Bank looks
for quality, stability and sustainability of performance. In terms of quantitative assessment. the Bank analyses the
borrower's historical and projected financial statements, where pertinent.

To manage and mitigate risk of loss in the event of dethult. the Bank looks firstly at the protection accorded by the
borrower's net assets versus the Bank's exposure to the borrower. Where appropriate, the Bank will examine the qualitv.
liquidity and hence the realisable value of the borrower's principal operating assets such as account receivables,
inventory and capital assets. In establishing financial protection tbr its exposure, the Bank may take a security interest in
such assets by way of mortgages, pledges, assignments and the like. ln addition, the Bank may also take additional
collateral ofl-ered by the borrower's principals or third parties to ensure adequate protection with a margin. Taking
collateral is a prevalent practice in the local tending environment as an additional prudent measure to mitigate against
potential loss at default.

Cross amount of loans and receivables to customers by class that were in Stage I are as follows.

Individual (Retail customers)
Stage I - Credit Retail Corporate
Performing overdrafts cards Term loans Mortgages banking entities l'ota I

3 I December 202 I

3 I December 2020

5 340.887 4,456.742 2.156,1 l8 6.391.207 13.785,710
8.407 377,464 474.t01 4.560,0s9 1,827.413 4.839,615 12.087,0s9:::

(b)Stage2-SICR

Loans and receivables to customers in Stage 2 are not considered as impaired unless information is available to indicate
the contrary. Gross amount of loans and receivables to customers by class that were in Stage 2 are as follows.

Individual (Retail customers)
Stage 2 - SICR Retail

0l 422

3 I December 202 I

3 I December 2020

1.481

1.456

Overdrafts
Credit
cards Term loans

Corporate
entities l'otal

427.855

222.287+

Mortgages ban

63.085 279.623 59,177 24.489:::
4,45224.035 168,411 23,933

(c) Stage 3 - Credit impaired (Default)

Gross amount of loans and receivables by class to customers that were in Stage 3 are as follor.vs

Individual (Retail customers)
Credit
cards Term loans

Corporate
entities

Retail
banking

Stage 3 -
Credit impaired

3l December 202 I

3l December 2020

Overdrafts
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34.4.9 Loans and receivables are summarised as follows: (continued)

(d) Loans and receivables renegotiated

RenegotiatedloanstotaledMVR2,llO,T69,T52l-asat3lDecember202l(2020:MVR 2,107,232,5121-)
Renegotiated loans and receivables to customers

Individuals:
Continuing to be impaired after restructuring
Non-impaired after restructuring - would otherwise have been impaired
Non-impaired after restructuring - would otherwise not have been impaired

Corporate entities:
Continuing to be impaired after restructuring
Non-impaired after restructuring - would otherwise have been impaired
Non-impaired after restructuring - would otherwise not have been impaired

2021 2020

3 6,48 8

33, I 55

28,481

9,637
23,730

79,038

1,992,584

2,243
2,012,646

2,110,770 2,107,232

34.4.10 Commitments and contingencies

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and
contingent liabilities. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the statement of financial
position, they do contain credit risk and are therefore part ofthe overall credit risk exposure ofthe Bank.

The table below shows the Bank's maximum credit risk exposure for commitments and guarantees.

As at3l December 2021 2020

Guarantees

Documentary credit

Acceptances

Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Overdraft commitments 235 573

_t 249,010__t,54ggn_
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises
because of the possibility that the Bank might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due
under both normal and stress circumstances.

Management of liquidity risk

Maintaining adequate liquidity is essential to manage the expected and unexpected fluctuations in the assets
and liabilities of the Bank and to provide funds for growth. The Bank deals with the management of risks
arising from changes in liquidity due to internal and external factors, changes in interest rate movements and
changes in exchange rates.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections on a regular basis. The
starting point for projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the
expected collection date ofthe financial assets.

The Bank also monitors unmatched medium-term assets, the level and type of undrawn lending
commitments, the usage of overdraft facilities and the impact of contingent liabilities such as standby letters
of credit and guarantees.

The Bank maintains a statutory deposit with MMA equal to l0%o of customer deposits and maintains a
separate reserye of 5oh and llYo for foreign and local currencies respectively, of demand and time deposits
for its Islamic banking operations, and no interest income is earned on these balances. Furthermore. the Bank
maintains a ratio of net liquid assets to liabilities to reflect market conditions
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79,944
225,240

37,1t7
77,957

s 87,059
241,693

91,639

I 14,139

6,800

38,1 l6
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34,5.2 Contractual maturities of undiscounted cash flows of assets and liabilities

As at 3l December 2021 Less than 3 3 to 12

months months
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Other assets

Total undiscounted fi nancial assets

5,546,920

2,971,399

Ito5
years

Over 5

yea rs Total

5,546,920

2,97t,398

5,465,967

1,885,61 g

2,012,029

s82,4t3

I 56,907

3,883,073

5,172,411
10,191,987

306,174
7,850,5 l2

5,622,774
23,8II,lgl
7,490,614

243,6t6
726,8t7

243,616
t44,404

19,464,335 9,2 t2,291 I 0,498,1 61 8,23 8 s1? 46,413,320

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds
Lease liability
Other liabilities
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

26,266,45t
330,287

5,481

1,064,962

758,352
267,8t3

16,061

403,8 r8

675,877

85,069
t3,397

l3 I ,401

27,428,621

t.281,374
238,0t2

I,064,862
27,667,091 1,042,226 1,164,764 l44,7gg 30,018,869

Net undiscounted financial
assets/(l iabilities) (9,202,746) 8,170,065 9,333,397 8,093,734 16,394,451

Management believes that in spite of substantial portion of customer accounts being on demand, diversification of
these deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the Bank would indicate that these
customer accounts provide a long-term and stable source offunding for the Bank.
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34'5'2 Contractual maturities of undiscounted cash flows of assets and liabilities (continued)

As at 31 December 2020 Less than 3

months
3 to 12

months
Ito5
years

Over 5

yea rs l'otal
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Other assets

Total undiscounted financial assets 12,548,369 7,223

1,791,676

3,086,212

4,030,760
I,670,355
r,830,033

149,333

I,781,676

50,930

2,966,095
4,206,227

10,048,05 t

609,381
8,839,972

3,086,212

4,091,690
23,524,473
6,645,641

245,t66
293,737

245,166
t44,404

,252 10,657,432 q ))q \A') 3 9.3 64,8 5 8

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Lease liability

Other liabilities
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 22,083,652 1,t57,769 1,038,450 190,019 24,469

20,596,345
268,469

9,618

1,209,220

983,49 |

t56,787
17,49t

436,051

532,759

69,640
18,269

171,750

22,015,997
976,284
268,499

1,209,220

,890

Net undiscounted fi nancial
assets/(lia bilities)

(9,535,283) 6,065,483 9,618,982 9,039,s23 14,8s4,968
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34.5.3 Contractual maturities of commitments and contingencies

The table below shows the contractual expiry by rnaturity of the Bank's contingent liabilities and comrnitrnents.
Each undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the.urli.rt date it can be drawn down.
For issued financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest
period in which the guarantee could be called upon.

As at 3l December 2021 Less than 3

months
3to12
months

Ito5
years

Over 5

vea rs Total
Contingencies
Guarantees

Documentary credit
Acceptances

Commitments
Capital commitments
Loan commitments

Overdraft commitments

As at 3l December 2020

Contingencies
Guarantees

Documentary credit
Acceptances

Commitments
Capital commitments

Loan commitments

Overdraft commitments

130,206

37,446
135,593

29,849

9,217 79,944
225,240

37 n7
202 878 9,211 342 301

243,135
21,248

78,391

264,383 563,93s 78,391 906,709

394,599 766,913 87,609 __-1132,010_

77,957
265,533
220,445

77,957

587,059

241,693

Less than 3

months
3to12
months

Ito5 Over 5

vea rs years Total

53,792

61,327

10,709

51,277

6,900

l7,l3g
1,53s

8 r,639

ll4,r39
6,900

I 15,1 lg 68,785 18,674 202,578

396,532
32,255

38, I l6
570,705 106,472

3 8,1 16

1,073,71I

235,573

2

203 3t8
429,797 8t2,t39 106,472 2 1,347,400

543,906 880,924

34.6 Market risk

Market risk relates to the impact of fluctuations in market rates on the Bank's assets and liabilities, or the risk
that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables
such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank does not have a-trading portfolio.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank's financial assets and
liabilities.

Management of market risk

The Bank has in place appropriate policies, processes and procedures to support the ongoing management of
market risk. The market risks arising from non-trading activities are reviewed by the eank:s Alset and Liability
Management Comminee (ALCO).
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34.6.1 Interest rate risk

lnterest rate risk is an inherent risk created when there is a mismatch between the tenors of an asset vis-d-vis the tenors
of liabilities or when there is a mismatch between floating and fixed rate assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk results
from the differences in interest rate changes on assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because ofchanges in market interest rates.

Management of interest rate risk

The Bank does not carry a trading portfolio and does not generally invest in stocks or shares other than government
treasury bills and money market placements. These investments are generally less than 12 months and are held to
maturity, The Bank prepares an interest rate sensitivity of assets and liabilities which is presented to the Bank,s Asset
and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) on a monthly basis.

The table below analyses the Bank's interest rate risk exposure on financial assets and liabilities. Financial assets and
liabilities are included at carrying amount and categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

Interest bearing
As at 3l December 2021 Less than

3 months
3 to 12

months
I toS Over 5

vearsyears
Non interest

bearing Total
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives
Monetary Authority

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to
customers

Financial assets at amorlized
cost

Financial assets at FVOCI

Other assets

Total discounted fi nancial
assets

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed
funds

Lease liability

Other liabilities
Total discounted financial
liabilities

Total interest rate sensitivity
gap

156,6 r8

2.540.865 6.461,902 5,207.163

5.003.21 I 27 t.55t

I ,970,601

5,459,366

1,346,737

2,004,605

5.546.920

1.000,787

5.546.920

2.971.388

5.615.984

15.556.667

7 .279.367

243.616

726.8t7

243.6t6
582,4 r3 144,404

11,363,722 7,700,694 6,733.453 5,351.567 6,791,323 37.940.759

9,147,972

262,951

2,373

1.064,862

731,794

228.727

7,031

371,051

635,134

45,509

12.520

96.813

t 7,080.875 27 ,33 | .592

- 1. t39.233

- tst.726

- 1.064.862

10.477,958 967,552 1,051,694 109,333 17,0g0,975 29,687.413

885,763 6.733,142 5,681,759 5,242,233 ( 10,289.552) 8,253,346
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34.6.I Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 3l December 2020 Less than
3 months

I nterest bea ring
3to12
months

I to5 Over5 Non interest
bearing Total

l.'781.67 6

3.0tt6.2 r2

4.075.83l

14.459.899

6.43 3.84 5

245.166

293.7 37

years vears
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with
Maldives Monetary Authority

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to
customers

Financial assets at amortized
cost

Financial assets at FVOCI

Other assets

Total undiscounted fi nancial
assets

Financial liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other borrorved
funds

Lease liability

Other liabilities

Total undiscounted financial
liabilities

Strengthening ofEuro by 10o/o

Weakening of Euro by 10%

Strengthening of GBP by l0o/o

Weakening of GBP by l0%

Strengthening ofJPY by l0%
Weakening of .lPY by l0%

Strengthening of SGD b5, l0o/o

Weakening ol SGD by l0%

t,78t.676

1,784.8551,301,357

4,025,809

t.126,299

1,824,778

50,024

1,695,296

4,051,4t9

5,991,759 5,646,s45

5 5 7.648

245.166
149,333 144.404

8,427,576 5,796,',739 6.549,407 s,790,949 3,81 1,697 30.376,368

7,872,590

253,58 I

7,004

1.209,220

950,854

140,527

9,042

402, I 98

495,987

3 1,488

12.703,527

16,6 r I

96,525

9.342,395 1.100.423 929,673 I13,136 12,703,527 24.t8s,t54

Total interest rate sensitivity
gap

(9r4.819) 4.696.316 5,6t9.734 5.677,813 (8,891.830) 6.187.214

34.6.2 Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument wil[ fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
This represents exposures the Bank has due to changes in the values ofcurrent holdings and luture cash flow positions
denominated in currencies other than the local currency.

Foreign currency Impact on equity
2021 2020

Strengthening ofUS$ by l0%
Weakening of US$ by l0%

43.612

(43,612)
24.862

(24.862)

(2.668)

2.668

ll0
(lt0)

9

(e)

9

(e)

( 10.08 r )
10,081

199

(ree)

l4
( l4)

847

(847)
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34.6.3 Management of currency risk

The majority of transactions in the Bank, other than those in the local currency of Maldivian Rufiyaa (MVR), are
carried out in United States Dollars (USD), Up to April2011, the exchange rate of USD against MVR was fixed and
since then it has been maintained within the 20oh cap and floor of the base rate determined by the Maldives Monetary
Authority (MMA). Therefore, the Bank is not susceptible to any major currency fluctuation risk. The Bank does not
engage in large scale transactions in foreign currencies on a speculative basis.

The risk associated with changes in foreign exchange rates from holding open positions in a particular currency or
combination of currencies, is controlled through a combination of foreign exchange position limits and transaction
Iimits which comply with regulatory requirements. These exposures are monitored on a fortnight basis and reported to
the Bank's Asset and Liability Management Committee,

As at 3l December
2021 MVR USD EUR GBP JPY SGD Others Total

Assets

Cash and cash

equivalents

Statutory deposit
with Maldives
Monetary Authority

Placements with
banks
Loans and

receivables to
customers

Financial assets at

amortized cost

Financial assets at

FVOCI

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other
borrowed funds

Lease liability
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

389.729 s.095.83 5

1.517.655

2 17,853

5,873.132

3 56.83 3

243,616

3 88.5 08

50,876 I,986 139 5,877 2,478 5.s46.920

2,97t.388

5"615.984

t7.225,389

7.279.367

243.6t6

1,737.044

1.453.733

5.398.131

I t,345,927 3.345 2,685

6,922,534

1,347,547 989
26,857,601 13,693,732 55 1,986 I39 8.562 2,478 40.619 .708l0

I 5,5 85,91 3

39,142

150,727

960,954

I 1,589,568

I ,l 00,09 I

999

s66,957

156.016 95 27,331,592

1. r 39,233

151,726

I ,527 ,gl I
16,736,737 t3,257,6t4 t 56.016 95 30. I s0,462

Net on-balance
sheet financial 10,120,864 436,1I8 (100,806) t,986 139 8,467 2,478 10,469.246
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34.6.3 Management of currency risk (continued)

As at 3l December 2020

MVR TISD EI.IR GBP JPY SGD Others 'f otal
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposir wirh
Maldives Monetary

Authority

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to
customers

Financial assets at

amortized cost

Financial assers at FVOCI

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Due to customers

Term debt and other
bonowed funds

Lease liability
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Net on-balance sheet
financial position

403,3 3 8

85 5,390

3.934.222

I 0.279,480

6,050,644

I 2,599, l 33

54,403

143,012

859,007

1,357,797

2,230,822

14l,6l I

6,203,276

383,20 l

245,t66

18.866 l.l0l 9l t09

t,7 67 254

374 1,78 1.676

3,086,2t2

4,07s,83 3

16,484,777

6,433,845

245.t66

t.342.782
9l 363 374 33,4s0,29 r

9,28 l ,45 8

852,303

1,047

566,957

48,3 06

1, l0l 9l 374

21,929,169

906,706

144,059

r,425,964

24,405,898

9,044,393

r3,6s5,55s t0.701.765 48.306

trrr* ** *r,
272

9l

34,7

34.8

34.8.1

34,6,4 Equity price risk

Equity price risk arises as a result of any change in market prices and volatilies of individual equities. The table below,
summarizes the impact to equity due to change ol l0% on equity prices

2021 2020

Market value of equity securities as at 3l December 243,03s 244,sgs
Stress level

Shock of l0% on equity prices (upward) 24,304 24,459
Shock of l0% on equity prices (downward) e4,304) (24,459)

Country risk

Country risk is the risk that an occurrence within a country could have an adverse affect on the Bank directly by impairing the
value of the Bank or indirectly through an obligor's ability to meet its obligations to the Bank. The Bank does not carry any
exposures outside the country ofoperations other than short-term money market placements.

Operational risk

operational risk is the loss resulting lrom inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events.
The Bank manages and controls operational risk by identifying and controlling risks in all activities according to a set of pre-
determined parameters by applying appropriate management policies and procedures.

Management of operational risk

The management ofoperational risk represents a fundamental component ofthe Bank's overall approach to risk management.
Operational risk is inherent in every part ofthe Bank including its products, people, processes and technology. The Bank has an
Operational Risk Policy which outlines its framework for the management of operational risk including identification,
assessment, measurement, monitoring, mitigation and reporting.

The Bank's All Risk Committee has responsibility lor reviewing the risk environment and the Bank's performance against the full
spectrum of risks faced in its activities, determining appropriate preventive and mitigating actions where necessary. In terms of
operational risk specifically, the Bank has in place an Operational Risk Committee which meets monthly and which reports to the
All Risk Committee.

-68-
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35 Net asset value per ordinary share

Total equity holders funds
Number of ordinary shares in issue
Net assets per share (MVR)

36 Additional cash flow information

36.1 Cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purpose

Cash in hand (Note t5)
Balance with other banks

36,2 Adjustments for items included in profit before tax

Depreciation of properry, plant and equipment (Note 22.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 24)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 23)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 22.9)
Gain from derecognising lease liability
Finance cost on lease liabilities (Note 5)
lmpairment charge and interest reversal on loans and receivables
excluding impairment on other assets (Note 20)
Loans written-off during the year (Note 20)
Impairment (reversal) / charge on other assets

36.3 (lncrease)/decrease in operating assets

Net change in statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Net change in placement with banks
Net change in loans and receivables to customers
Net change in financial assets at amortized cost
Net change in other assets

36.4 Increase/(decrease)inoperatingliabilities

Net change in due to customers
Net change in term debt and other borrowed funds
Net change in other liabilities

2021 2020

8,800,524

5,381,920

1,635

7,019,5 l5
5,3 8 I ,920

1,304

202t 2020

686,921 658, I 93

1,123,4934,859 ,999
5,546,920 1,791,676

2021 2020

51,680

13,237

12,7g l

1,345

(627)

12,239

51 ,77 6

12,676

25,040

(8)

887

t2,97 t

1,273,218

(221,522)

2t 882
(276,420) 1,176,920:

l0l,g6g
(456,965)

( I 1,989)

114,924

( 1,541,094)

(740,612)
(845,649)
(411,132)

(801,7 t 0)

(1,567,420)

(2,150,014)

(1,422,610)
(92,528)

(3,423,653) (6,034,28 l)

2021 2020

5,402,423

232,527
( 15,430)

4,585,229

(8 1,700)

7 49,239
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3l December 2021 3l December 2020

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with
Maldives Monetary
Authority

Placements with banks

Loans and receivables to
customers

Financial assets at

amortized cost

Financial assets at FVOCI
Property, plant and

equipment

Right-of-use assets

lntangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Due to customers

Term debt and other
borrowed funds

Lease liability

Income tax liability

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

5.546,920

2,971,388

5.6 I 5,984

3.887,602

7.007,816

666.269

25.695.979

26,960,541

491,579

9,404

427,559

I,100,352

Within
l2 months

After l2
months Total

Within
l2 months

After l2
months Total

t 1.669.065

27 t,55 t

243,616

523,321

r58,412

94.920

I49,718

144.404

5.546,920

2.97 r.388

5.615.984

I 5.556.667

7,279,367

243.616

523,32t

158.4 t2

94,920

149,718

810,673

1,78t.6'76

1.086.212

4,075.833

2.821.595

5.87 6.19'.1

528. r 69

156.166

78.636

387.s52

r 1,638.304

557,648

245,t66

192,259

1.781.676

3.086.2 r2

4.075.tt3 3

14.459.899

6,43 3,845

245.t66

528" r 69

1 56.1 66

78.63 6

192,259

387,552
13.255.006 3 8.950,986 t8,',792.036 12.633.377 3 t.425,4t3

371,051

647,654

t42,322

27,331,592

1,139,233

151,726

427,559

1,100,352

2t,526,97 |

394.r08

16,046

r 9 r,660

1.234,304

402,198

5 12,598

128,013

21,929,t69

906,706

144.059

I 9 1,660

1,234.304
28.989,435 t,t61,027 30,150,462 23.363,089 1,042.809 24.405.898

Net assets/ (liabilities) (3,2e3,456) t2,093.9'79 8,800,524 (4,571,053 ) r 1.590,568 7.01 9,5 I 5

70-
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37 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The table below shows the assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled.
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38 Material litigation against the Bank

Litigation is a common occulrence in the Banking Industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The
Bank has formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. once professional advice has been obtained
and the amount of loss reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects
which the claims may have on its financial standing. At year-end, the Bank had a small number of unresolved
legal claims but none that would materially impact the financial statements of the Bank.

Related party disclosure

The Bank carries out transactions in the ordinary course of business with parties who are defined as ,Related

Pafties' in IAS 24 - Related party disclosures. The terms and conditions of such transactions are disclosed
under Notes 39.4 and 39.5.

39.1 Parent and ultimate controlling party

The Covernment of Maldives holds 50.s0% of the ordinary shares of the Bank, 15.41% of shares by State
owned enterprises and institutions, whereas the remaining 33.73%of the shares are widely held.

39.2 Transactions with key management personnel of the Bank

The Bank has identified and disclosed personnel having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank as'key management personnel'in accordance witir IAS 24 - Related
party disclosures. Accordingly, the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director and
Deputy chief Executive officer have been identified as 'Key Management personnel'.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Bank

2021 2020

39

39.3

39.{

Short-term Benefits
Post employment benefits - Provident Fund Contribution

9,369
259

7,256

ll0
9,628 7,366

Transactions with key management personnel of the Bank

The Bank enters into transactions, arrangements and agreements with key management personnel and close
family members of key management personnel in the ordinary course of business. The transactions below were
made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially the same terms, including interesVcommission
rates and security, as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing or, where applicable, with
other employees.

2021 2020
Assets

Loans and receivables 19.832 5 t ,092

Liabilities
Deposits 17,817 30,746

Income and expenses
lnterest income
Interest expense

4,769
636

4,499
695

-7 1-
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39.5

40

4t

Transactions with Government of Maldives and government related entities of the Bank

The Bank enters into transactions, arrangements and agreements with Government of Maldives and
government related entities in the ordinary course of business. The transactions below were made in the
ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms, including interest/commission rates and security,
as for comparable transactions with unrelated counterparties.

Assets ZOzt 2020

Loans and receivables (Gross)

Provision for loans and receivable
Loans and receivables (Net)
lnvestment in Government of Maldives treasury bills and treasury bonds
Investment in corporate bonds
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority

Liabilities
Deposits and bonowings

Commitments and contingencies
Guarantees, letter of credit and others

Income and expenses
lnterest income
Interest expense

Fee and commission income

I ,75 1,65 I

5,984

1,675,667

6,874,765
99,594

2,971,399

1,368,19 I

(92,590)

1,275,591

6,002,745
125,965

3,086,212
ll 621 414 10 IJ

3,089,319 2,675,752

282,0t5 5 16,193

498,67 |

4,325
28,459

412,351

1,276

30,291

Events after the reporting date

The Board of Directors have recommended a final dividend of MVR 30 per share to be paid for the financial
year ended 3 I December 2021 , nt the form of cash dividend.

No circumstances have arisen since the reporting date which would require adjustments to, or disclosure in, the
financial statements.

Capital management

The Bank has in place a Capital Policy to support its long term capital objectives, risk appetite and business
activities, as well as to meet its regulatory requirements. The Bank's objectives when managing capital are:

' To comply with the capital requirements under the Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA) prudential
Regulation on Capital Adequacy.

' To safeguard the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

' To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

MMA requires each bank or banking group to hold a minimum level of regulatory capital of MVR 150 million
and to maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets (the'Basel ratio') at or above l|yo.

1')
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The Bank's regulatory capital is divided into two tiers:

' Tier I Capital: Share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations ofretained earnings;
and

' Tier 2 Capital: Current year earnings, general provision and qualifying subordinated loan capital.

Risk-weighted assets reflect an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and counterpartyJ
taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees as per MMA Prudential Regulation on Capital Adequacy. A
similar treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposures, with some adjustrnents to reflect the more contingent
nature ofthe potential losses.

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the capital adequacy ratios of the Bank for the
years ended 3l December 2021 and 3l December 2020.The Bank complied with all regulatory capital requirements
during both the years.

Capital adequacy as regulated by MMA

Tier I Capital ZOZ1 2020

4t.t

4t.2

Share capital

Assigned capital reserve

Share premium

General reserve

Statutory reserves

Less: Future tax benefits

Total qualifying Tier I Capital

Tier 2 Capital
Current earnings

Revaluation reserve (discounted by 55%)

Generalprovision (Limited to l.25oh of RWA)

Total qualifying Tier 2 Capital

Total Regulatory Capital

Risk-weighted assets (RWA)
On-balance sheet

Off-balance sheet

Total risk-weighted assets

Tier I Risk Based Capital Ratio

Total Risk based Capital Ratio

269,096

6,000

93,000

6,122,904

150,000

( 149,71 8)

6,491,292

1,862.019

50,179

182,447

269,096

6,000

93,000

5,875,046

150,000

(t92,2se)

6,200,8 83

32s,067

51,367

214,644

2,094,645 59r 079

8,5 85,927 6,791,962

r 8,339,586

1,249,010

| 5 ,621 ,57 t

t,549,978

r9,588,596 17,17 1,549

33.14%

43.83%

36.1 lo/o

39.55%

Basel 3 Capital computation

As per Basel 3 guidelines, the Total Capital Ratio must be maintained at or above 8% including Tier 1 and Tier 2
Capital. The Bank reported Tier 1 Capital Ratio - 33.4% and Total Capital Ratio - 44o/o for the year ended 2021
(2020:Tier I CapitalRatio - 37.49yo, TotalCapital Ratio - 40.94%).
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42 Segment analysis

By business segment

The Bank operates in different business segments, each of which has unique risks and returns. The primary
segments of the Bank are:

' Corporate. Business and Retail banking: Providing loan facilities, trade finance and deposit services to large
corporate, business (micro, small and medium sized enterprises) and retail customers respectively.

' Cards and Electronic banking: Acquiring and issuing debit and credit cards and managing pOS, ATM and
internet banking services.

' Treasury: Capital and liquidity management activities such as investments, borrowings and managing money
market instruments.

' BML Islamic: Providing Shari'ah compliant banking products and services underthe window basis.

Transactions between business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Segment assets and
liabilities conrprise loans and advances and customer deposits.

42,1 Segment reporting - Statement of comprehensive income

2021

Corporate
and retail

banking Treasury

Total operating income

Extracts of results

Interest income/income from financing and
investments held to maturity
Interest expense/profi t paid
Net interest/profit income

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense

Net fee and commission income/(expense)

Net gain/(loss) from trading
Other operating income (net)
Credit impairment ([osses)/reversal

Net operating income

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Segment result

2,306,554 1,030 ,127

123,731 409,512 144,047 2,15 l,gg9

256,940 17,291 664,963

(37 ,3 l0) ( r ,060) (40,444) (9 I ,65 8)
2,n 1,356 542,878 364,905 132,1 52 3 ,1 5 I ,29 I

(2s4)

2.057.917 53 1,654 364,905 131,898 3,096,374

Card and
electronic

banking
BML

Islamic Total

415,410 I 78,54 r 3,930,630

1 ,47 5,599

( I 40,5 84) ,944 19

I,335,015

274,245
( 17,305)

123,731 359,069

865, I 46

390,742

138,103

17,281

I,955,917

1,156,672

(4et,70e)

s56,71t
36,497

4,752
(12,844)

15,7 47

1,465

3,t92
3,705

5 5,43 6

-s66,63 3

(42,797)
(10,642)

(8,629)
(2,595)

(5 1,680)

(13,237)

Expenses of BML Islamic
Un-allocated expenses

Profit before tax
Income tax
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

(2s4) (2s4)
(s 49,428)

2,s36,692
(674,673)

1,862,019

r6l )
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42,1 Segment reporting - statement of comprehensive income (continued)

Corporate
and retail

banking

2020

Card and
electronic

banking Treasury
BML

lslamic Total

Total operating income

Extracts of results

lnterest income/income from financing and
investments held to maturity

Interest expense/profi t paid

Net interest/profit income

Fees and commission income

Fees and commission expense

Net fee and commission income/(expense)

Net gain/(loss) from trading

Other operating income (net)

Credit impairment losses

Net operating income

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Segment result

Expenses of BML lslamic

Un-allocated expenses

Profit before tax

Income tax

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

t,507,032 705.835 349,807 t2t,596 2,684,270

l,3l l,l31 116,440

fl2s q0fl\

1,195,223 116,440

174,196

( r0,445)

536,342

54,1 1 3)

163,751 282,229

48,346)

288,436 I 15,431 1,705,530

8,825 719,363

64,5 5 8)

8,825 454,805

336,782 120,232

(4,801)

1,884,595

( l79,0ss)

48,667

4,396

(38,s34)

13,025 (8,415)

954

(36,s73)

53,277

27,0452I,705
(r.r57, 789) 5 ??S (t,227,s61)

2t2,890 413,188 306,796 80,222 I ,013,096

(40,244)

( r 0,7s3)

(l 1,169)

(t,923)

(363) (s1,776)

(12,676)

t61,893 400,096 306,796 79,859 948,644

(1s,77 s) (t s,77s)

(482,498)

450,371

(12s ,304)

-7 5-
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42.2 Segment reporting - Statement of financial position

2021

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements rvith banks

l,oans to and receivables I'rom customers

l-inancial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at IjVOCI
Property. plant and equiprnent

Right-of'-use assets

lntangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other assets

'Iotal assets

Liabilities

Due to customers

Term debt and other borrowed funds

Lease liability
Other liabilities
Income tax liability (Unallocated)

'[otal liabilities

Addition to Non-current assets

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Statutory deposit u,ith Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements to banks

Loans and receivables lront cuslomers

Financial assets at amortized cost

Financial assets at FVOCI
Property. plant and equipment

Right-ol-use assets

Intangible assets

Dei'erred tax assets

Other assets

'fotal assets

Liabilities

Due to custon'lers

Term debt and other borrowed lunds
Lease Liabiliry
Other liabilities
Income tax liability (Unallocated)

Total liabilities

Corporate Card and
and retail electronic

5.3 19,433

2.8 r3.076

r 3.959.698 33 I.653

243.035

17,644

2t,22t

q,)a

han king banking Treasury BML Islamic Total

5,390,729

7,230,567

227.487

I 58.3 l2

225.255

1.265.3 r6

48,800

5,546,920

2,97 r .388

1,796

34,280

23.7 t3.t"17 655_26'7 t2.62t.296 1.961.24!, 38,950.986

25.986,024 1.345.56tt

581

503.88 I

158.412

73,699

149.718

734,679

5,615,984

I 5.556.667

7.279.367

243.616

523,321

I 58.41 2

94.920

149,718

810.673

t5t,726
953,7 t6 I 14,13 t

1.139,233

27,33t,592
r. r39.233

151,726

l, r 00.352

427,559

32.505

27,091

43,396 34,382

l3 1,378,073 30. I 50,462

59 207 78,044

2020

ll t3l I

Corporate
and retail

banking

Card and

electron ic

bankine T'reasury BSIL Islamic -[otal

1,779.554

2,979,900

I 3. I 48.588

3.734,972

6,3 85.045

2.122

r06,3I2

340,86 I

1.030,83 r

48,800

1,78t,676

3,086,212

4,075,833

14,459,899

6,433,84s

245.166

528. I 69

1 56.1 66

78.636

192,259

387,552

280,480

244,585

41,0t2

9,214

2.757

126,497 58.r23

I 9.0 I 3.802 70 I .788 r0.r20 ,01 7 t,589,806

s8l
484,400

1 56.1 66

69,422

t92,259

202.932

3t,425,413

20.907,954

t44,059
l,087,384 I 19,2E0

906,706

1,02t,215

27.640

21,929,169

906,706

I 44,059

1.234,304

I 9l,660
22.139.397 I 19,280 906.706 1.048.855 24,405.898

Addition to Non-current assets t3'7.612
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43 Impact of COVID l9

During the current year, due to continued uncertainties caused by covlD-lg, the Bank has considered
whether any adjustments and changes in judgments, estimates and risk management are required to be
considered and reported in the consolidated financial information. The Bank's business operations remain
largely unaffected by the current situation.

The Bank has updated the inputs and assumptions used for the determination of expected credit losses
("ECLs") as at 31 December 202l. ECLs are estimated based on the relevant forward-looking
macroeconomic factors, significant increase in credit risk, and assessing the indicators of impairment for
the exposures in potentially affected sectors.

The Bank will continue to closely monitor the impact of CoVID-19 as the situation progresses ro manage
the potential business disruption CovlD-19 outbreak may have on its operations and financial
performance.
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